

United States Department of Agriculture

Forest Service

August 2007



Draft Environmental Impact Statement

National Forest System Land Management Planning

United States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or part of an individuals income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, DC 20250-9410, or call (800) 795-3272 (voice) or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

National Forest System Land Management Planning Draft Environmental Impact Statement

Lead Agency: USDA Forest Service

Responsible Official: Mark Rey, Undersecretary, Natural Resources

and Environment, USDA

For Information Contact: Dave Sire, Ecosystem Management

Coordination dsire@fs.fed.us (202) 205-1006

Regis Terney, Ecosystem Management

Coordination rterney@fs.fed.us (202) 205-1552

Abstract: The Agency proposes to publish a rule at 36 CFR part 219 to finish rulemaking on the land management planning rule issued on January 5, 2005 (2005 rule). The 2005 rule guides development, revision, and amendment of land management plans for units of the National Forest System. The Agency is considering five alternatives in detail, including the proposed action. The proposed action and preferred alternative is the planning rule published on January 5, 2005 and amended on March 3, 2006 (Alternative A). Other alternatives are: the 2000 rule as it existed before promulgation of the 2005 rule (Alternative B); the 1982 rule as it existed before promulgation of the 2000 rule (Alternative C); a modified version of the 2005 rule, which does not include the requirements for an environmental management system (EMS) (Alternative D); and a modified version of the 2005 rule, which does not include the requirements for an EMS and includes timber requirements placed in Agency directives under the 2005 rule (Alternative E). The effects analysis concludes that there are no direct, indirect, or cumulative effects from any of the alternatives. The draft environmental impact statement is available online at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/2007_planning_rule.html. The final environmental impact statement, when completed, will be available on the same website.

Reviewers should provide the Forest Service with their comments during the review period of the draft environmental impact statement. Doing so will enable the Agency to analyze and respond to the comments at one time and to use information acquired in the preparation of the final environmental impact statement, thus avoiding undue delay in the decisionmaking process. Reviewers have an obligation to structure their participation in the National Environmental Policy Act process so that it is meaningful and alerts the Agency to their position and concerns. Vermont Yankee Nuclear Power Corp. v. NRDC, 435 U.S. 519, 553 (1978). Environmental objections that could have been raised at the draft stage may be waived if not raised until after completion of the final environmental impact statement. City of Angoon v. Hodel (9th Circuit, 1986) and Wisconsin Heritages, Inc. v. Harris, 490 F. Supp. 1334, 1338 (E.D. Wis. 1980). Comments on the draft environmental impact statement should be specific and should address the adequacy of the statement and the merits of the alternatives discussed (40 CFR 1503.3).

Send Comments to: planningrule@fscomments.org or to

Planning Rule Comments

P.O. Box 162969

Sacramento, CA 95816–2969 or via facsimile to (916) 456–6724

Date By Which Comments Must Be Received: October 22, 2007

SUMMARY

The Agency is seeking public comment on a proposed land management planning rule at 36 CFR part 219 to finish rulemaking on the National Forest System land management planning rule issued on January 5, 2005 (2005 rule) and amended on March 3, 2006. The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules would establish administrative procedures whereby National Forest System land management plans are developed, revised, and amended.

This action is needed because the Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 (88 Stat. 476 *et seq.*), as amended by the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA) (90 Stat. 2949 *et seq.*; 16 U.S.C. 1601–1614), requires the Secretary to promulgate regulations under the principles of the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960, which established the process for the development and revision of land and resource management plans (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)).

The 2005 rule at 36 CFR part 219 (70 FR 1022) resulted from a review of the National Forest System Land Management Planning Rule issued on November 9, 2000 (2000 rule). The review found (1) the 2000 rule has definitions and analytical requirements that are complex, unclear, and, therefore, subject to inconsistent implementation across the Agency; (2) compliance with the regulatory direction in the 2000 rule regarding ecological sustainability and science consistency checks would be difficult to accomplish; and (3) the complexity of the 2000 rule makes it difficult and expensive to conduct.

This proposal to publish a land management planning rule improves on the 2000 rule with a planning process that is easier to understand, is in the Agency's capability to accomplish, is consistent with the capabilities of National Forest System lands, and recognizes the strategically programmatic nature of planning.

This rulemaking is the result of a U.S. district court order dated March 30, 2007, which enjoined the United States Department of Agriculture from implementing and utilizing the 2005 planning rule (70 FR1022) until it complies with the court's order regarding compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act, the Endangered Species Act, and the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) (*Citizens for Better Forestry et al. v. USDA*, C.A. C05-1144 (N. D. Cal.)).

The Agency published a Notice of Intent in the Federal Register on May 11, 2007 (72 FR 26775), to start the public involvement process. Also, the Agency sent a letter on May 14, 2007, to more than 500 stakeholders giving notice of its intent to prepare an environmental impact statement to analyze and disclose potential environmental consequences associated with a National Forest System land management planning rule.

The Forest Service reviewed documents filed in *Citizens for Better Forestry et al. v. USDA* (N.D. Calif.), comments in response to the notice of intent, comments previously collected during promulgation of the 2005 rule (70 FR 1022), Agency planning directives (72 FR 4478, 71 FR 10956, 71 FR 5124), and the Agency categorical exclusion for land management planning (71 FR 75481). An interdisciplinary team developed a list of issues for discussion:

Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities

Some respondents are concerned the 2005 rule procedures for diversity weaken protection for fish and wildlife species because the 2005 rule does not include the requirements for managing habitat to maintain viable populations, the requirement to select management indicator species (MIS), and the requirement to either establish habitat objectives for MIS or monitor population trends of MIS.

Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g)

Some respondents are concerned the 2005 rule guidance for timber resource management (36 CFR 219.12(b)(2)) is inadequate because it does not include the level of specificity of the 1982 rule. Further, some respondents contend the timber management requirements from NFMA are legally required to be in the regulations. Although the 2005 rule states that these requirements will be found in internal Forest Service directives, courts have frequently found that internal Agency directives are not judicially enforceable.

Identification of lands not suited for timber production (16 U.S.C. 1604(k))

Some respondents are concerned the 2005 rule guidance for identification of lands not suited for timber production (36 CFR 219.12(a)(2) (2005)) is insufficient because it does not include the level of detail that was included in earlier rules. They are concerned this level of detail represents an elimination of resource protection standards.

Standards and Prohibitions

Some respondents are concerned that the 2005 rule limits land management plans to strategic plan components rather than being a conventional plan. A conventional plan would include plan components that prohibit uses or activities in management areas or prohibit activities near specific ecological features, such as within 100 feet of streams. Some respondents are concerned with guidelines because the 2005 planning rule allows the responsible official discretion (36 CFR 219.12(b)(2)).

Environmental Impact Statement

There is concern that by not requiring an environmental impact statement for plan revisions, the proposed action (2005 rule) does not require consideration of a full range of planning alternatives, reduces public involvement in land management planning, and leaves consideration of cumulative effects to project-level analyses.

Best Available Science and Land Management Plans

Some respondents are concerned because the 2005 rule requires the responsible official to take into account the best available science, while the 2000 rule requires the responsible official to ensure the plan is consistent with the best available science (36 CFR 219.24 (2005)).

Management requirements

Some respondents are concerned the proposed planning rule does not include minimum specific management requirements as the 1982 rule did at §219.27(1982). They contend that the lack of management requirements in the planning rule will reduce environmental protections and result in significant environmental impacts. They further contend that lower environmental requirements in a planning rule will likely result in less environmental protection at the unit and site-specific levels.

These issues led the Agency to develop alternatives to the proposed action. The Forest Service developed five alternatives for detailed study, including the No Action and Proposed Action alternatives, in response to the significant issues.

Alternative A (Proposed Action)

The 2005 rule, as originally published on January 5, 2005, and amended on March 3, 2006, and with updated effective date and transition period date at §219.14 is the proposed action and preferred alternative. This rule is Appendix A of this environmental impact statement.

The proposed rule describes the National Forest System land management planning framework; establishes requirements for sustaining social, economic, and ecological systems and developing, amending, revising, and monitoring land management plans; and clarifies that land management plans under this rule, absent extraordinary circumstances, are strategic and are one stage in an adaptive management cycle of planning for management of National Forest System lands. The intended effects of the rule are to streamline and improve the planning process by increasing the adaptability to changes in social, economic, and environmental conditions; by strengthening the role of science in planning; by strengthening collaborative relationships with the public and other governmental entities; and to reaffirm the principle of sustainable management consistent with the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act and other authorities.

Alternative B (No Action)

Under the No Action alternative, the 2000 rule at 36 CFR part 219, as it existed before promulgation of the 2005 rule, would guide development, revision, and amendment of land management plans for the National Forest System. This rule describes the framework for National Forest System land and natural resource planning; reaffirms sustainability as the goal for National Forest System planning and management; sets up requirements for the implementation, monitoring, evaluation, amendment, and revision of land and resource management plans; and guides the selection and implementation of site-specific actions. The intended effects of the rule are to simplify, clarify, and otherwise improve the planning process; to reduce burdensome and costly procedural requirements; to strengthen and clarify the role of science in planning; and to strengthen collaborative relationships with the public and other government entities. The 2000 rule, as amended, is Appendix B of this environmental impact statement.

Alternative C (1982 planning rule)

Under this alternative, the 1982 rule at 36 CFR part 219, as it existed before promulgation of the 2000 rule, would guide development, revision, and amendment of land management plans for the National Forest System.

This rule requires integration of planning for national forests and grasslands, including the planning for timber, range, fish and wildlife, water, wilderness, and recreation resources, with resource protection activities such as fire management, and the use of other resources such as minerals. The 1982 rule, as amended, is Appendix C of this environmental impact statement.

Alternative D (Proposed Action Modified)

This alternative is the same as the proposed action (Alternative A) but without either environmental management system (EMS) requirements or references to EMS. The EMS section at §219.5 in the proposed action is not in this alternative. EMS would not be part of the plan set of documents. EMS establishment would not be required before plan approval and it would not mark the end of the transition period.

Alternative E (Proposed Action Modified)

This alternative is the same as the proposed action (Alternative A) as modified by: 1) removing environmental management systems (EMS) requirements and various references to EMS, 2) adding standards as a plan component, 3) adding more direction about identifying lands suitable for timber production and timber harvest, and 4) adding various timber management requirements from the National Forest Management Act (NFMA). This direction for various timber management requirements is currently specified in Forest Service directives (FSM 1921.12, FSH 1909.12, chapter 40).

This alternative maintains the provision at §219.4, which defers to Agency NEPA procedures for the environmental analysis level and documentation needed. Under this alternative, the NEPA analysis level and documentation would be based on how a unit applies the six plan components. It would be possible for one unit to approve a plan with a categorical exclusion, a second unit to use an environmental assessment, and a third unit might use an environmental impact statement.

Four additional alternatives were considered and eliminated from detailed study because they did not meet the purpose and need for action.

Major conclusions of the environmental analysis are as follows:

In the end, regardless of the planning rule used, land management plans for each unit of the National Forest System show social and economic values placed on National Forest System lands and environmental laws, regulations, and requirements for protection of the environment. The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules merely set forth processes to recognize and document these values and environmental protections.

The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules have no direct, indirect, or cumulative effect on the human environment. None of the alternatives would result in unavoidable adverse effects or any diminution of productivity of NFS lands. Finally, these rules do not call for any irreversible or irretrievable commitments of resources.

The draft environmental impact statement for the proposed planning rule is available online at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/2007_planning_rule.html. The final environmental impact statement, when completed, will be available on the same website.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Purpose of and Need for Action	1
Document Structure	1
Background	1
Purpose and Need for Action	4
Proposed Action	8
Decision Framework	8
Public Involvement	8
Issues	9
Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities	9
Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g)	10
Identification of Lands Not Suited for Timber Production (16 U.S.C. 1604(k)	
Standards and Prohibitions	
Environmental Impact Statement.	
Best Available Science and Land Management Plans	
Management Requirements	
•	
Chapter 2. Alternatives, Including the proposed action	12
Introduction	
Alternatives Considered in Detail	
Alternative A (Proposed Action)	
Alternative B (No Action)	13
Alternative C (1982 Planning Rule)	
Alternative D (Proposed Action Modified)	15
Alternative E (Proposed Action Modified)	17
Alternatives Eliminated from Detailed Study	21
Alternative F	
Alternative G	23
Alternative H.	
Alternative I	
Alternative Comparison	
Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities Issue	
Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g) Issue	
Identification of lands not suited for timber production (16 U.S.C. 1604(k)) Is	
• ' ' '	
Standards and Prohibitions Issue	25
Environmental Impact Statement Issue	
Best Available Science and Land Management Plans Issue	
Management requirements Issue	
How Each Alternative Meets the Purpose and Need for Action	27
Chapter 3. Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences	39
Affected Environment	
Environmental Consequences	39
Nature of Rules and Land Management Plans	39
Environmental Review of Past Planning Rules	
Direct Effects	
Desired Condition	
Objectives	
J	

Standards/Guidelines	45
Suitability	46
Special Areas/Designations/Recommendations	47
Monitoring	48
Indirect Effects	48
Cumulative Effects	49
Short-term Uses and Long-term Productivity	49
Unavoidable Adverse Effects	
Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitments of Resources	
Other Required Disclosures	
Alternatives' Response to the Issues	
Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities Issue	
Diversity Requirements of NFMA	
Threatened, Endangered, or Proposed Species	
Other Species	
Response to Issue	
Diversity criteria	
Diversity Criteria and Alternatives A, D, and E	
Diversity Criteria and Alternative B	
Diversity Criteria and Alternative C	
Monitoring	
Adaptive management	
Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g) Issue	
National Forest Management Act Requirements	
Guidance from the Forest Service Directive System	
Response to Issue	
Identification of lands not suited for timber production 16 U.S.C. 1604(k) Issue 61
National Forest Management Act Requirements	
Guidance from the Forest Service Directive System	
Response to Issue	61
Standards and Prohibitions Issue	62
National Forest Management Act Requirements	62
Response to Issue	
Alternatives A and D	62
Alternative B	63
Alternative C	63
Alternative E:	64
Environmental Impact Statement Issue	64
National Forest Management Act Requirements	64
Response to the Alternatives Issue	65
Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)	65
Alternatives B (2000 rule) and C (1982 rule)	65
Response to the Public Involvement Issue	65
Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)	66
Alternative B (2000 rule)	
Alternative C (1982 rule)	
Response to the Cumulative Effects Issue	
Alternatives A. D. and E (2005 rule and modifications)	

Alternatives B (2000 rule) and C (1982 rule)	68
Best Available Science and Land Management Plans Issue	68
National Forest Management Act Requirements	
Response to Issue	
Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)	68
Alternative B – No Action (2000 rule)	69
Alternative C (1982 rule)	70
Management Requirements Issue	70
National Forest Management Act Requirements	70
Response to Issue	
Alternative C (1982 rule)	
Alternatives A, B, D, and E	
Chapter 4. Consultation and Coordination	73
Preparers and Contributors	
ID TEAM MEMBERS:	
OTHERS:	
Distribution of the Environmental Impact Statement	
Index	
Appendices	
Appendix A – 2005 Planning Rule	A-1
Appendix B – 2000 Planning Rule	
Appendix C – 1982 Planning Rule	
Appendix D – References	
Appendix D References	
List of Tables	
Table 1—Comparison of Alternatives to Purpose and Need for Action	28 35
Table 3 Alternative Land Management Plan Requirements	44
Table 4 Diversity Criteria	53
Table 5 Monitoring and Species Diversity	
Table 7 Even-aged Methods are used only if -	

CHAPTER 1. PURPOSE OF AND NEED FOR ACTION

ח	OCI	ım	Δn	1	Str	114	cti		rΔ
u	UU	инн	CI	IL	Эu	u	Ŀι	лι	ᆫ

The Forest Service has prepared this environmental impact statement in compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and other relevant Federal and State laws and regulations. This environmental impact statement discloses the direct, indirect, and cumulative environmental impacts that could result from the proposed action and alternatives. This environmental impact statement is available online at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/2007_planning_rule.html. The final environmental impact statement, when completed, will be available on the same website.

The document is organized into four chapters:

- Chapter 1. Purpose and Need for Action: This chapter includes information on the history of the proposal, the purpose of and need for action, and the Agency's proposal for achieving the purpose and need. This chapter also details how the Forest Service informed the public of the proposal and how the public responded. Finally this chapter summarizes issues with the proposed action identified from internal and external scoping.
- Chapter 2. Alternatives, including the Proposed Action: This chapter provides a more detailed description of the Agency's proposed action as well as alternative methods for achieving the stated purpose. These alternatives were developed based on significant issues identified during scoping.
- Chapter 3. Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences: This chapter describes the environmental effects of implementing the proposed action and other alternatives.
- Chapter 4. Consultation and Coordination: This chapter provides a list of preparers and agencies consulted during the development of the environmental impact statement.
- Appendices: The appendices provide more detailed information to support the analyses presented in the environmental impact statement.

Index: The index provides page numbers by document topic.

Additional documentation, including more detailed analyses, is in the project planning record.

Background_

The Forest Service is responsible for managing the lands and resources of the National Forest System (NFS), which include 193 million acres in 44 states, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands. The NFS is composed of 155 national forests, 20 national grasslands, one national prairie, and other miscellaneous lands under the jurisdiction of the Secretary of Agriculture (the Secretary).

The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 (88 Stat. 476 et seq.), as amended by the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA) (90 Stat.

2949 *et seq.*; 16 U.S.C. 1601-1614), requires the Secretary to promulgate regulations under the principles of the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 that establish the process for the development and revision of land and resource management plans (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)).

The first planning rule, adopted in 1979, was substantially amended on September 30, 1982 (47 FR 43026), and was amended, in part, on June 24, 1983, (48 FR 29122), and on September 7, 1983 (48 FR 40383). It is the 1982 rule, as amended, that has guided the development, amendment, and revision of the land and resource management plans (plans) on all national forests and grasslands.

The Forest Service has undertaken several reviews of the planning process implemented under the 1982 rule. The first review took place in 1989 when the Forest Service, with the assistance of the Conservation Foundation, conducted a comprehensive review of the planning process and published the results in a summary report, "Synthesis of the Critique of Land Management Planning" (1990). The critique concluded that the Agency spent too much time on planning, that planning costs too much; and, therefore, that the Forest Service needed a more efficient planning process.

Subsequently, the Forest Service published an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on February 15, 1991, (56 FR 6508) regarding possible revisions to the 1982 Rule. A proposed rule was published in 1995 (60 FR 18886), however, the Secretary elected not to proceed with that proposal.

In response to comments on the 1995 proposed rule, the Secretary convened a 13-member Committee of Scientists in late 1997 to evaluate the Forest Service's planning process and recommend changes. In 1998, the Committee of Scientists held meetings across the country and invited public participation in the discussions. The Committee's findings were issued in a final report, "Sustaining the People's Lands" (March 1999). The Agency learned that it can improve planning by relying on the concepts and principles of social, economic, and ecological sustainability; by applying the best available scientific knowledge; and by effectively collaborating with a broad array of citizens, other public servants, and governmental and private entities. In response to many of the findings in the 1990 Synthesis of the Critique of Land Management Planning and the 1999 Committee of Scientists report, the Forest Service attempted to prepare a planning rule that would provide a more efficient planning process. A proposed rule was published on October 5, 1999 (64 FR 54074), and a final rule was adopted on November 9, 2000 (65 FR 67514).

In the environmental assessment for the 2000 rule the Agency stated, "The current regulation requires many detailed analyses that often are not responsive to evolving social, economic, and natural environments. Further, the existing regulation imposes now obsolete and sometimes unnecessary requirements. Finally, the Forest Service has found that these requirements often do not lead to the development of reliable or useful information regarding the condition of the environment on National Forest System lands or the production of products and services from those lands." The environmental assessment also stated, "Practical results from the first generation of plans for National Forests and Grasslands reveal a clear and pressing need to reduce the technical and administrative burdens of costly procedural requirements, improve coordination with the public and other governmental entities, and improve the application of the best available scientific understanding of sustainable ecological, social, and economic environments." (USDA Forest Service 2001)

The purpose of the 2000 rule was to simplify, clarify, and otherwise improve the planning process; to reduce burdensome and costly procedural requirements; and to strengthen collaborative relationships with the public and other government entities.

The 2000 rule changed the Forest Service planning process by: (1) establishing ecological, social, and economic sustainability as the overall stewardship goal for managing the National Forest System; (2) identifying maintenance and restoration of ecological sustainability as the first priority for management of National Forest System lands; (3) requiring collaboration with the general public, interested organizations, Tribal, State and local governments, and Federal agencies in all phases of the planning process; (4) expanding monitoring and evaluation requirements; (5) specifying the involvement of scientists and establishing detailed requirements for the application of science in the planning process; and (6) providing a dynamic planning framework for solving problems and addressing issues at the appropriate scale. The 2000 rule applied to plan amendments and revisions and to project-level planning and decisionmaking.

The 2000 planning rule emphasized sustainability, which assists the Forest Service in providing for multiple uses through time. The 2000 rule also focused on updating existing plans and it removed some analytical requirements of the 1982 rule, such as the requirements for developing benchmarks, which are no longer considered helpful. The 2000 rule also emphasized public involvement more than the 1982 rule. The 2000 rule gave explicit direction on the use of science in the planning process, while the 1982 rule relied on knowledge shared through an interdisciplinary team approach without procedural requirements for the use of science. The 2000 rule replaced the post-decisional administrative appeal process for challenging plans with a pre-decisional objection process. The 2000 rule also delegated the authority for plan decisions to the forest or grassland supervisor, rather than to the regional forester. The 2000 rule recognized the plan as a dynamic document.

After adoption of the 2000 rule, the Secretary received a number of comments from individuals, groups, and organizations expressing concerns regarding the implementation of the 2000 rule. In addition, lawsuits challenging promulgation of the rule were brought by a coalition of 12 environmental groups from seven states and by a coalition of industry groups (*Citizens for Better Forestry* v. *USDA*, No. C-01-0728-BZ- (N.D. Calif., filed February 16, 2001)) and (*American Forest and Paper Ass'n* v. *Veneman*, No. 01-CV-00871 (TPJ) (D.D.C., filed April 23, 2001)). As a result of these lawsuits and concerns raised in comments to the Secretary, the Department of Agriculture initiated a review of the 2000 rule focusing on implementation. The NFMA Planning Rule Review, completed in April 2001, concluded that many of the concerns regarding implementation of the rule were serious and required immediate attention. (USDA Forest Service 2001)

The Forest Service developed a business analysis model of the 2000 rule and then conducted a workshop with field-level planners to determine how to implement the 2000 rule based on the business model. The business model provided the basis for a systematic evaluation of the rule. The facilitated workshop centered on answering two questions: (1) Are the business requirements clearly understood? (2) What is the Agency's perceived ability to execute the requirements? An important consideration is that the evaluation of the 2000 rule was conducted by planning practitioners with current field-level experience. The practitioners were Agency experts in a variety of resource areas that could assess

what can reasonably be accomplished, considering existing knowledge and information, the issues relevant to planning areas, and local staffing and funding situations. The business model review determined that implementation of the 2000 rule would require significantly more time and budget than the Agency had previously committed to updating and maintaining unit plans. (USDA Forest Service 2002)

Having considered the reports of the review teams, the Acting Deputy Under Secretary for Natural Resources and Environment requested that the Chief of the Forest Service develop a proposed rule to revise the 2000 rule. A new planning rule was proposed on December 6, 2002 (67 FR 72770).

Also, interim final rules extending the transition from the 1982 planning rule to the 2000 planning rule were published in 2001 (66 FR 27552) and 2002 (67 FR 35431), the latter rule allowed Forest Service managers to elect to continue preparing plan amendments and revisions under the 1982 planning rule until a new final rule was adopted. An interim rule was published in 2003 (68 FR 53294) extending the date by which site-specific project decisions must conform with provisions of the 2000 planning rule until a new rule is promulgated. Finally, an interpretive rule was published in 2004 (69 FR 58055) to clarify the intent of the transition section of the 2000 rule regarding the consideration and use of the best available science to inform project decision making.

The final 2005 rule was published January 5, 2005 (70 FR 1022), and amended March 3, 2006 (71 FR 10837). It was subsequently the subject of litigation (*Citizens for Better Forestry et al. v. USDA* (N.D. Calif.)). In an order dated March 30, 2007, the United States District Court enjoined the USDA from implementing and utilizing of the 2005 rule until it takes additional steps to comply with the court's opinion regarding the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), the Endangered Species Act (ESA), and the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). The Court stated, "In particular, the agency must provide notice and comment on the 2005 Rule as required by the APA since the court concludes that the rule was not a "logical outgrowth" of the 2002 Proposed Rule. Additionally, because the 2005 Rule may significantly affect the quality of the human environment under NEPA, and because it may affect listed species and their habitat under ESA, the agency must conduct further analysis and evaluation of the impact of the 2005 Rule in accordance with those statutes."

Without conceding the correctness of the Court's ruling, which is being addressed through the judicial process, the Agency has decided to undertake this process, thus expediting much needed plan revisions and improving the Agency's stewardship of National Forest System lands.

Purpose and Need for Action

The purpose and need for action was described in the notice of intent to prepare an environmental impact statement published in the Federal Register on May 11, 2007. (72 FR 26775) While the notice only stated the summary conclusions from the two planning rule reviews described below, the following discussion provides a complete list of findings from the two reviews.

The purpose of the proposed rule is two fold. The primary purpose is to improve upon the 2000 rule by providing a planning process that is readily understood, is within the Agency's capability to implement, is consistent with the capabilities of National Forest

System lands, recognizes the strategic programmatic nature of planning, and meets the intent of the National Forest Management Act (NFMA) while making cost effective and efficient use of resources allocated to the Agency for land management planning.

The second purpose of this action is a partial response to the court order of March 30, 2007, (*Citizens for Better Forestry et al. v. USDA* (N.D. Calif.) described above. This environmental impact statement was prepared to document analysis and evaluation of the impact of the 2005 rule in accordance with NEPA.

This proposed rule is needed to address the limitations of the 2000 rule as identified in the April 2001 NFMA Planning Rule Review and the May 2002 business model analysis workshop discussed above.

The NFMA Planning Rule Review found the following:

- (1) In the 2000 rule, ecological sustainability is a new management standard and economic and social sustainability has secondary focus, which contravenes multiple use and sustained yield principles;
- (2) There are three problems identified regarding the viability provisions in the 2000 rule. First is the level of precision implied for measurement of viability; second is that the viability requirement in the rule extends beyond what is required in statute; and third, a coarse-filter approach has been offered as being more consistent with scientific feasibility and more consistent with management of ecosystems than hundreds of individual species assessments.
- (3) The rule injects scientists directly into the planning process. While it might be appropriate to consider the best available science, it is the science that is relevant, not the person bringing it. The rule requirement to consult scientists could lead to confusion about what role the scientists play in the decision.
- (4) Increasing dependence on research and development scientists alone would effectively overwhelm the research mission of the Forest Service.
- (5) The rule requires considerable analysis of ecological, economic, and social components of sustainability, all of which must be accomplished using the best available science. Those analysis requirements are substantially greater than anything accomplished in even the most intense planning efforts and they are likely beyond the Agency's capability.
- (6) The rule calls for a science advisory board to provide scientific advice on issues identified by the Chief, and Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA)-compliant regional advisory boards to advise regional foresters regarding the application of science. The processes to establish FACA-compliant science advisory boards are difficult. Their costs could be substantial.
- (7) The rule describes a level and specificity of monitoring that might not be feasible. The rule includes requirements establishing monitoring methodologies, methods frequency of sampling and sampling protocols, i.e., population monitoring, in the plan, resulting in unnecessary delay of decisions and investments in information that are not warranted or necessary to make a reasoned decision.

The business model analysis workshop raised the following issues, which are similar to those noted by the NFMA Planning Rule Review:

- (1) The ability to achieve the ecological, social, and economic sustainability standards in the 2000 rule and the viability provisions for the diversity of plant and animal communities is questionable;
- (2) The 2000 rule includes unnecessarily detailed procedural requirements for scientific peer reviews, broad-scale assessments, monitoring, and science advisory boards.
- (3) The rule requirements do not recognize the limits of budgets for use of science and it did not clearly relate use of science to the scope of issues in the planning process;
- (4) The 2000 rule also did not recognize limitations on the availability of scientists. It is unwise to place such detailed requirements on the use of scientists in the rule given the ambiguities of the rule text and the limited availability of scientists. Although science is needed to inform the responsible official, the reviewers concluded that the 2000 rule anticipated a level of involvement by scientists that might not be needed considering the planning issues or the anticipated amount of project activities in the plan area;
- (5) The unnecessarily detailed requirements for monitoring and evaluation in the 2000 rule are likely beyond the capacity of many units to perform;
- (6) Mixing programmatic and project-level planning direction throughout the rule is confusing; and
- (7) The monitoring requirements in the 2000 rule are overly prescriptive and do not provide the responsible official sufficient discretion to decide how much information is needed.

The business model analysis workshop conclusions are a suitable summary of both reviews:

- (1) The 2000 rule has both definitions and analytical requirements that are very complex, unclear, and, therefore, subject to inconsistent implementation across the Agency;
- (2) Compliance with the regulatory direction on such matters as ecological sustainability and science consistency checks would be difficult, if not impossible, to accomplish;
- (3) The complexity of the 2000 rule makes it difficult and expensive to implement; Moreover, in 2002, public comment on the proposed rule identified the following principles and practical considerations for plans and planning:
 - Plans should be strategic in nature. The purpose of plans should be to establish
 goals for forests, grasslands, and prairies and establish the guidance to follow in
 pursuit of those goals. Such goals can be expressed by describing desired
 conditions, objectives, guidelines, suitability of areas, and special areas.
 Typically, a plan does not include final decisions approving projects or activities.
 - Plans must be adaptive and based on current information and science. During the
 15-year life expectancy of a plan, information, science, and unforeseen
 circumstances evolve. Adjusting plans and the plan-monitoring program using
 adaptive management principles and reaction to new information and science
 swiftly and efficiently must be possible.
 - Land management planning must involve the public. Plans are prepared for the public's lands. Public participation and collaboration should be welcomed and

- encouraged as a part of planning. To the extent possible, responsible officials should work collaboratively with the public to help balance conflicting needs, to evaluate management under the plans, and to consider the need to adjust plans.
- Plans must guide sustainable management of NFS lands. The Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act (MUSYA) of 1960 (16 U.S.C. 528–531) requires that NFS lands be managed to provide a continuous flow of goods and services to the nation. To meet this requirement, plans must focus on providing a sustainable framework – based on social, economic, and ecological systems – that guides onthe-ground management of projects and activities and provides these goods and services.
- Planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies. Planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies, although all these requirements do not need to be restated in a plan. For example, the Clean Water Act includes requirements for non-point source management programs, to be administered by the States. The States or the Forest Service then develops Best Management Practices (BMPs) for use in design of projects or activities on NFS lands. BMPs are designed to meet State water quality standards and are intended to result in the prevention of adverse consequences. Specific BMPs do not have to be repeated in the plan to be in effect and applicable to NFS projects and activities.

Based on the results of the aforementioned reviews and principles and practical considerations, there is a need for a planning rule that

- Contains clear and readily understood requirements;
- Makes efficient use of Agency staff resources and collaborative efforts;
- Establishes a planning process that can be conducted within Agency planning budgets;
- Provides for diversity of plan and animal species, consistent with capabilities of National Forest System lands;
- Requires analyses that are within the Agency's capability to conduct;
- Recognizes the strategic nature of land management plans;
- Considers best available science;
- Requires public involvement in development of a monitoring strategy, taking into account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures and provides the responsible official sufficient discretion to decide how much information is needed:
- Promotes the use of adaptive management;
- Involves the public;
- Guides sustainable management; and
- Complies with applicable laws, regulations, and policies.

Proposed Action _____

The Agency is proposing adoption of a planning rule that is essentially identical to the 2005 rule as published in the Federal Register on January 5, 2005 (70 FR 1022) and amended on March 3, 2006 (71 FR 10837). The proposed rule only differs from the 2005 final rule for the effective date and for the end of the transition period date in §219.14. The proposed planning rule is the culmination of the Agency's response to issues with the previous planning rules: 1979 rule, 1982 rule, 1995 proposed rule, 1999 proposed rule, 2000 rule, and 2002 proposed rule. The complete rule is provided in Appendix A.

Decision Framework

The Under Secretary for Natural Resources and Environment, USDA, will decide whether or not to promulgate the planning rule, as proposed, or some alternative thereto that meets the stated purpose and need.

Public Involvement

A notice of intent was published in the Federal Register on May 11, 2007. The notice of intent asked for public comment on the proposal until June 11, 2007. Because of the extensive amount of public comment already received on the 2005 rule, planning directives, and the Agency categorical exclusion for land management planning, no public meetings were held for the scoping effort.

In addition to considering comments received during the scoping period, the Forest Service reviewed the court's opinion in *Citizens for Better Forestry et al. v. USDA* (N.D. Calif.) and comments previously collected during promulgation of the 2005 rule (70 FR 1022), Agency planning directives (72 FR 4478, 71 FR 5124), and the Agency categorical exclusion for land management planning (71 FR 75481). Based on comments and the aforementioned review, an interdisciplinary team developed a list of issues to address.

The Agency received a little over 800 responses regarding the notice of intent to prepare an environmental impact statement. The responses ranged in length from one sentence to sixty-two pages. Comments contained within the responses included advocacy for a particular planning rule, suggested analyses to conduct, issues to consider, compliance with laws and regulations, and alternatives to the proposed action.

The comments represent a wide range of viewpoints. On one end of the range, responses applaud the proposed action and encourage the agency to move forward as quickly as possible. On the other end, respondents seem to have fundamentally different viewpoints from the Agency regarding the proposed action, the nature of a planning rule, and the potential environmental impacts of the proposed action. Those alternative viewpoints were very helpful in preparation of the issues, alternatives, and environmental consequences sections of this environmental impact statement.

Some responses raised specific issues with the proposed action while others raised broader points of debate with overall management of the National Forest System. Some respondents also suggested alternatives to the proposed action while others suggested alternative processes for promulgating a planning rule or alternative purposes for the National Forest System.

One response recommended creating a formal advisory group to generate alternative planning rules. Such a process is not without merit. However, the Agency has already invested considerable resources in developing the 2005 rule. The proposed planning rule (2005 rule) is the result of 28 years of learning about land management planning rules through experience with application, collaboration, and various forms of public and scientific review. The Agency has chosen the current rulemaking process to afford the public an opportunity to comment on and suggest alternatives to the proposed planning rule. Several alternative planning rules were suggested, but none met the stated purpose and need for action. The suggested alternatives are discussed in Chapter 2.

A number of respondents offered advice about what analysis should be completed or what procedures were most appropriate. The agency also received many comments regarding the purpose and need, the nature of planning, and what should be accomplished through the planning regulation. The agency considered all comments, including those determined to be outside the scope of the environmental impact statement. Scoping comments are included in the project record.

Issues

The Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) regulations at 40 CFR 1501.7 direct agencies to "Determine the scope (§1508.25) and the significant issues to be analyzed in depth in the environmental impact statement" and to "identify and eliminate from detailed study the issues which are not significant or which have been covered by prior environmental review (§1506.3)." Scope consists of the range of actions, alternatives, and impacts to be considered in an environmental impact statement. (40 CFR 1508.24) The scope of this environmental impact statement is defined by the proposed action, alternatives developed to address significant issues while meeting the purpose and need for action, and the potential impacts identified in the significant issues.

The Forest Service identified as significant those issues that could directly or indirectly result from implementing the proposed action. Issues identified as not being significant were those, 1) outside the scope of the proposed action; 2) already decided by law or other regulation; 3) unrelated to the decision to be made; or 4) conjectural and not supported by scientific or factual evidence. A list of non-significant issues and reasons regarding their categorization as non-significant is in the record.

The Forest Service identified the following significant issues during scoping. The issues represent alternative viewpoints concerning possible effects of implementing the proposed planning rule.

Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities

Some respondents are concerned the proposed action's (2005 rule) ecosystem diversity and species diversity provisions weaken the protections for fish and wildlife species because they do not include the requirements for managing habitat to maintain viable populations or the requirement to select management indicator species (MIS), establish habitat objectives for MIS, or monitor population trends of MIS that were included in the 1982 rule. Some respondents have the concern that the 2005 rule eliminates or relaxes substantive environmental protections for wildlife habitat because it doesn't establish provisions to "ensure" habitat for viable populations.

Some respondents are concerned that the 2005 rule supplies too much discretion to the responsible official and therefore delegates decision-making authority that will not be subject to stringent review by the courts. Even though the 2005 rule requires guidance to be placed in the Agency directive system, some respondents believe agency directives are unenforceable by the courts. The 2005 rule is viewed as giving the most discretion to responsible officials.

Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g)

Some respondents are concerned the 2005 rule guidance for timber resource management (36 CFR 219.12(b)(2)) is inadequate because it does not include the level of specificity of the 1982 rule. Further, some respondents contend that NFMA requires its timber management provisions to be in the regulations instead of Agency directives as proposed by the 2005 rule.

Identification of Lands Not Suited for Timber Production (16 U.S.C. 1604(k))

Some respondents are concerned the 2005 rule guidance for identification of lands not suited for timber production (36 CFR 219.12(a)(2)(2005)) is insufficient because it does not include the level of detail that was included in earlier rules. They are concerned this level of detail represents an elimination of resource protection standards.

Standards and Prohibitions

Some respondents are concerned that the 2005 rule limits plan content to strategic plan components rather than a traditional package of standards and guidelines as was adopted by the 1982 planning rule.

Some respondents are concerned that the 2005 rule allows responsible official discretion in complying with guidelines (36 CFR 219.12(b)(2)). The 2005 rule preamble says the responsible official has "the latitude to depart from guidelines when circumstances warrant it" (70 FR 1026).

Some respondents believe that only measurable mandatory standards allow the public to hold the Forest Service accountable.

Environmental Impact Statement

Some respondents are concerned the proposed action's (2005 rule) procedures related to NEPA are inadequate because an environmental impact statement would not be required for land management plans. Under the proposed action, a responsible official may categorically exclude approval of a plan, plan amendment, or plan revision from NEPA documentation. There is concern that by not requiring an environmental impact statement, the proposed action does not require consideration of a full range of planning alternatives, reduces public involvement in land management planning, and leaves consideration of cumulative effects to project-level analyses.

Best Available Science and Land Management Plans

Some respondents advocate that the 2000 rule is better than the 2005 rule because the 2000 rule requires the responsible official to ensure that plan amendments and revisions are consistent with the best available science (36 CFR 219.24 (2000)). Respondents are concerned the 2005 rule only requires that the responsible official "take into account" the best available science. They commented that a responsible official should not make a decision without the input of science and scientists. They contend the responsible

official's discretion under the 2005 rule might conflict with provisions for the use of scientific and collaborative input.

Management Requirements

Some respondents are concerned the proposed planning rule does not include minimum specific management requirements as the 1982 rule did at §219.27(1982). They contend the lack of management requirements in the planning rule will reduce environmental protections and result in significant environmental impacts. They further contend that lower environmental requirements in a planning rule will result in less environmental protection at the unit and site-specific levels.

CHAPTER 2. ALTERNATIVES, INCLUDING THE PROPOSED ACTION

This chapter describes and compares the alternatives considered for the proposed planning rule. It includes a description of each alternative considered. This section also presents the alternatives in comparative form, sharply defining the differences between each alternative and providing a clear basis for choice among options by the decision maker and the public. The information used to compare the alternatives is based upon the design of the alternative and its responsiveness to the issues and purpose and need for action.

/ Intorriative e derioration and in Detail	Alternatives	Considered in	Detail	
--	---------------------	---------------	--------	--

The Forest Service developed five alternatives, including the No Action and Proposed Action alternatives, in response to the significant issues.

Alternative A (Proposed Action)

Alternative A is the preferred alternative.

The proposed action is the 2005 rule as originally published on January 5, 2005 (70 FR 1022), and amended on March 3, 2006 (71 FR 10837), and with updated effective date and transition period date at §219.14. This rule is provided in Appendix A. This alternative includes guidance in the Agency's planning directives, consisting of detailed planning procedures and analysis processes that would be used if this alternative is selected. These directives are available at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/index5.html.

The proposed rule describes the National Forest System (NFS) land management planning framework; requires plans to address sustainability of social, economic, and ecological systems; and clarifies that land management plans under this rule, absent extraordinary circumstances, are strategic in nature and are one stage in an adaptive cycle of planning for management of NFS lands. The intended effects of the rule are to streamline and improve the planning process by making plans easier to develop, amend, and revise; to allow for planning to be more adaptable to changes in social, economic, and environmental conditions by using adaptive management principles; to strengthen the role of science in planning; to strengthen collaborative relationships with the public and other governmental entities; and to reaffirm the principle of sustainable management consistent with the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act and other authorities.

On January 31, 2006, the Forest Service adopted directives for the 2005 rule that set forth the legal authorities, objectives, policy, responsibilities, direction, and overall guidance that Forest Service line officers, Agency employees, and others would need to use along with the rule for plan development, amendment, and revision (71 FR 5124). If the United States Department of Agriculture (Department) promulgates the proposed rule as final, the Agency would carry out this rule using the current directives, modified, as necessary, to account for any changes because of this rulemaking. If additional changes to the directives are necessary, the Agency will provide an opportunity to the public to

comment on future changes to the directives where there is substantial public interest or controversy concerning the future changes.

The proposed action is intended to address the shortcomings of the 2000 rule and to incorporate the five principles and practical considerations previously described. Specifically, the proposed planning rule meets the purpose and need for action through the following features:

- Includes requirements that are clear and readily understood;
- Makes efficient use of Agency staff resources and collaborative efforts;
- Is within Agency planning budgets;
- Provides for diversity of plan and animal species, consistent with capabilities of NFS lands;
- Requires analyses that are within the Agency's capability to conduct;
- Recognizes the strategic nature of land management plans;
- Considers best available science;
- Requires public involvement in development of a monitoring strategy, taking into account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures and provides the responsible official sufficient discretion to decide how much information is needed;
- Promotes the use of adaptive management;
- Involves the public;
- Guides sustainable management; and
- Complies with applicable laws, regulations, and policies.

Alternative B (No Action)

Under the No Action alternative, the 2000 rule at 36 CFR 219, as it existed before promulgation of the 2005 rule, would guide development, revision, and amendment of land management plans for the NFS. For purposes of analysis, the Agency assumes the transition language at §219.35 in the 2000 rule would not remain in perpetuity. Thus, the option to revise or amend land management plans under the provisions of the 1982 rule is not contemplated in the analysis of this alternative.

The 2000 rule describes the framework for NFS land and natural resource planning; establishes sustainability as the first priority for NFS planning and management; establishes requirements for the implementation, monitoring, evaluation, amendment, and revision of land and resource management plans; and guides the selection and implementation of site-specific actions. The rule is intended to simplify, clarify, and otherwise improve the planning process; to reduce burdensome and costly procedural requirements; to strengthen and clarify the role of science in planning; and to strengthen collaborative relationships with the public and other government entities. The 2000 rule, as amended, is in Appendix B. There are no directives specified for plan development, plan amendment, or plan revisions under the 2000 rule.

For all the reasons stated in the purpose and need discussion, Alternative B does not meet the purpose and need for action. It does, however, address a number of issues:

- The diversity of plant and animal communities issue by requiring management for a high likelihood of viable native and desired non-native species in the plan area;
- The timber management requirements issue by including the timber management requirements of NFMA section 6(g);
- The identification of lands not suited for timber harvest issue by including the suitability requirement of NFMA section 6(g);
- The standards and prohibitions issue by including standards;
- The environmental impact statement issue by requiring preparation of an environmental impact statement for plan revision; and
- The best available science issue by requiring land management plans to be consistent with best available science.

Alternative C (1982 Planning Rule)

This alternative consists of the 1982 rule at 36 CFR 219 as it existed before promulgation of the 2000 rule. This rule requires an integration of planning for National Forests and Grasslands, including the planning for timber, range, fish and wildlife, water, wilderness, and recreation resources; together with resource protection activities, such as fire management; and the use of other resources, such as minerals. The 1982 rule, as amended, is in Appendix C. This alternative includes guidance in the Agency's planning directives, consisting of planning procedures and analysis processes that would be used if this alternative is selected. Directives for plan development, plan amendment, or plan revisions under the 1982 rule are specified at FSM 1926. Directives are available at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/index5.html.

This alternative addresses the following issues:

- The diversity of plant and animal communities issue by including a requirement to manage habitat to maintain viable populations of existing native and desired non-native vertebrate species in the planning area;
- The timber management requirements issue by including the timber management requirements of NFMA section 6(g);
- The identification of lands not suited for timber harvest issue by including the suitability requirement of NFMA section 6(g);
- The standards and prohibitions issue by including standards and guidelines;
- The environmental impact statement issue by requiring preparation of an environmental impact statement for plan development, revision, and significant amendment; and
- The management requirements issue by including minimum specific management requirements.

Alternative C meets the purpose and need for action through the following features:

- Includes requirements that are clear and readily understood;
- Makes efficient use of Agency staff resources and collaborative efforts;
- Is within Agency planning budgets;
- Provides for diversity of plan and animal species. Requirements for diversity (viable populations), are more stringent than the requirements of NFMA;
- Requires analyses that are within the Agency's capability to conduct;
- Recognizes the strategic nature of land management plans;
- Considers best available science;
- Requires public involvement in development of a monitoring strategy, taking into account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures;
- Is silent about adaptive management;
- Involves the public;
- Guides sustainable management; and
- Complies with applicable laws, regulations, and policies.

Alternative D (Proposed Action Modified)

This alternative is the same as the proposed action (Alternative A) but without environmental management system (EMS) requirements and without any references to EMS. The EMS section at §219.5 in the proposed action is not included in this alternative. EMS would not be part of the plan set of documents. Establishment of an EMS would not mark the end of the transition period and EMS establishment would not be required before plan approval. This alternative includes the same guidance in the Agency's planning directives as the proposed action (2005 rule), consisting of detailed planning procedures and analysis processes that would be used if this alternative is selected. These directives are available at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/index5.html.

Due to its similarity to the proposed planning rule, this alternative is described in terms of its differences. To facilitate comparison with the proposed planning rule detailed in Appendix A, section 219.5 is reserved to preserve subsequent paragraph numbering. The following paragraphs would differ from those of the proposed action:

219.5 Reserved * * * * * * * *

[Asterisks Indicate Text Not Reprinted.]

219.7 Developing, amending, or revising a plan

(a)(1) plan documents or set of documents. The Responsible Official must maintain a plan document or set of documents for the plan. A plan document or set of documents includes, but is not limited to, evaluation reports; documentation of public involvement; the plan, including applicable maps; applicable plan approval documents; applicable NEPA documents, if any; and the monitoring program for the plan area.

219.14 Effective dates and transition

* * * * * * *

(b) Transition period. For each unit of the National Forest System, the transition period begins on the effective date of this subpart and ends one year after the effective date of this subpart.

* * * * * * * *

(d)(2) Plan amendments initiated during the transition period may continue using the provisions of the planning regulations in effect before November 9, 2000 (See 36 CFR parts 200 to 299, Revised as of July 1, 2000) or may conform to the requirements of this subpart.

* * * * * * * *

(e)(1) The responsible official is not required to halt the process and start over. The responsible official may apply this subpart as appropriate to complete the plan development, plan amendment, or plan revision process.

* * * * * * *

Alternative D meets the purpose and need for action through the following features:

- Includes requirements that are clear and readily understood;
- Makes efficient use of Agency staff resources and collaborative efforts;
- Is within Agency planning budgets;
- Provides for diversity of plan and animal species, consistent with capabilities of NFS lands;
- Requires analyses that are within the Agency's capability to conduct;
- Recognizes the strategic nature of land management plans;
- Considers best available science;
- Requires public involvement in development of a monitoring strategy, taking into account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures and provides the responsible official sufficient discretion to decide how much information is needed;
- Promotes the use of adaptive management;
- Involves the public;
- Guides sustainable management; and
- Complies with applicable laws, regulations, and policies.

Since Alternative D only differs from the proposed action by the absence of EMS requirements, it does not address any of the issues. The responsible official, in his discretion, requested an analysis of a modification of the proposed action that did not include EMS.

Alternative E (Proposed Action Modified)

This alternative is the same as the proposed action (Alternative. A) as modified by 1) removing EMS requirements and various references to EMS; 2) adding standards as a plan component to address the standards and prohibitions issue; 3) adding additional direction regarding the identification of lands suitable for timber production and timber harvest to address the identification of lands not suited for timber production issue; and 4) adding various timber management requirements from NFMA to address the standards and prohibitions issue.

The EMS section at §219.5 in the proposed action is not included in this alternative. EMS would not be part of the plan set of documents. Establishment of an EMS would not mark the end of the transition period and EMS establishment would not be a requirement before plan approval.

Standards would be added as a sixth plan component to section 219.7. Standards would be requirements, limitations, or prohibitions to land uses and management actions. Changes to standards would require a plan amendment.

Direction would be added at section 219.12(a) for suitable uses. Direction would include provisions for identification of lands not suited for timber production; lands suitable for timber production; and lands where trees may be harvested for multiple use values, other than timber production.

Direction would be added at section 219.12 (b) for timber management requirements established in NFMA at 16 U.S.C. 1604(g) (3). The direction would require a plan to include 1) limitations on even-aged timber harvest methods; 2) a maximum size for openings created by timber harvest; 3) requirements for timber management to achieve aesthetic objectives; 4) requirements for timber management to maintain or restore soil and water resources; 5) requirements that timber harvest projects be considered through interdisciplinary review; and 6) requirements to insure that even-aged stands of trees scheduled for harvest during the planning period have generally reached culmination of mean annual increment of growth.

Section 219.12 of the planning rule would also be modified to require that plans include a limitation on timber harvest based on an estimate of the long-term sustained-yield capacity. The plans would limit the average annual quantity of timber sold during a decade from the lands identified as suitable for timber production to a quantity equal to or less than the estimated long-term sustained-yield capacity. However, plans could allow for exceptions based on adverse events, such as fire or wind, or based on an imminent threat from insects or disease.

This alternative maintains the provision at §219.4, which defers to Agency NEPA procedures for the level of environmental analysis and documentation required in plan development, plan amendment, or plan revisions. Under this alternative, the level of NEPA analysis and documentation would be based on how a unit applies the six plan components. It would be possible for one unit to rely on a categorical exclusion to approve a plan, a second unit to prepare an environmental assessment for its plan, and a third unit to prepare an environmental impact statement for its plan.

This alternative includes the same guidance in the Agency's planning directives as the proposed action (2005 rule), consisting of detailed planning procedures and analysis

processes that would be used if this alternative is selected. These directives are available at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/index5.html.

Due to its similarity to the proposed planning rule (Alternative A), this alternative is described in terms of its differences. If this alternative is selected, the rule's sections may not be numbered the same as the proposed action. To facilitate comparison with the proposed planning rule as detailed in Appendix A, section 219.5 is reserved to preserve subsequent paragraph numbering. The following paragraphs differ from those of the proposed action:

219.5 Reserved [Asterisks Indicate Text Not Reprinted.] 219.7 Developing, amending, or revising a plan (a)(1) plan documents or set of documents. The responsible official must maintain a plan document or set of documents for the plan. A plan document or set of documents includes, but is not limited to, evaluation reports; documentation of public involvement; the plan, including applicable maps; applicable plan approval documents; applicable NEPA documents, if any; and the monitoring program for the plan area. (a)(2)(vi) Standards. Standards are requirements, limitations, or prohibitions applicable to land uses and management actions within the plan area. Standards are explicitly identified in a plan as "standards." Standards are established to achieve the desired conditions and objectives of a plan and to comply with applicable laws, regulations, Executive orders, and Agency directives. 219.12 Suitable uses and provisions required by NFMA (i) The Responsible Official must identify lands within the plan area as not suitable for timber production (§219.16) if: (a) (2)(i)(E) The technology is not available for conducting timber harvest

- (a) (2)(i)(E) The technology is not available for conducting timber harvest without causing irreversible damage to soil, slope, or other watershed conditions or substantial and permanent impairment of the productivity of the land;
- (a) (2)(i)(F) There is no reasonable assurance that such lands can be adequately restocked within 5 years after final regeneration harvest;
- (a) (2)(i)(G) Lands not suited for timber production may be available for timber harvest pursuant to paragraph (c) of this section.

* * * * * * *

(a)(3)(Lands suitable for timber production. After considering physical, ecological, social, economic, and other pertinent factors to the extent feasible, a Responsible Official may establish timber production as an objective in a plan for any lands not identified in paragraph (a) of this section. The Responsible Official must review lands not suited for timber production at least once every 10 years, or as otherwise prescribed by law, to determine their suitability for timber production. As a result of this

10-year review, timber production may be established as a plan objective for any lands found to be suitable for such purpose through amendment or revision of the plan.

- (a)(4) <u>Lands where trees may be harvested for multiple use values other than timber production</u>. Designation of lands as not suitable for timber production does not preclude the harvest of trees for other multiple use values. Except for lands described at (a)(2)(i)(E) of this section, trees may be harvested to create temporary or permanent openings for wildlife habitat improvement; to establish fuel breaks or reduce fuels; to create vistas; to enhance recreation use; to manage cultural/heritage sites; to salvage dead or dying trees; or to achieve other multiple use purposes not related to timber production.
- (b) NFMA requirements. A plan must include plan components to ensure that the following requirements related to timber management are met:
- (1) Limitations on even-aged timber harvest methods, including provisions to require harvest in a manner consistent with the protection of soil, watershed, fish, wildlife, recreation, and aesthetic resources and the regeneration of the timber resource, including requirements that even-aged harvest may occur only upon a finding that it is appropriate and that clearcutting may occur only upon a finding that it is the optimum method to meet the objectives and requirements of the plan;
- (2) Maximum size openings created by timber harvest according to geographic areas, forest types, or other suitable classifications for areas to be cut in one regeneration harvest operation. This limit may be less than, but will not exceed, 60 acres for the Douglas-fir forest type of California, Oregon, and Washington; 80 acres for the southern yellow pine types of Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, Florida, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Oklahoma, and Texas; 100 acres for the hemlock-Sitka spruce forest type of coastal Alaska; and 40 acres for all other forest types. The plan must allow for exceeding its limitations on maximum size openings after appropriate public notice and review by the supervisor of the responsible official who normally would approve the harvest proposal. The plan maximum size openings must not apply to the size of areas harvested as a result of natural catastrophic conditions such as fire, insect and disease attack, or windstorm;
- (3) Requirements that cut blocks, patches, or strips that are shaped and blended to the extent practicable with the natural terrain;
- (4) Requirements for maintaining or restoring soil and water resources, including protection for streams, streambanks, shorelines, lakes, wetlands, and other bodies of water from detrimental changes in water temperatures, blockages of water courses, and deposits of sediment, when management activities are likely to seriously and adversely affect water conditions on fish habitat;
- (5) Requirements that timber harvest projects be considered through interdisciplinary review, assessing the potential environmental, biological, aesthetic, engineering, and economic impacts on the sale area, as well as the consistency of the sale with the multiple use of the general area, and that the harvesting system used is not selected primarily because it will give the greatest dollar return or the greatest unit output of timber; and
- (6) Requirements for assuring that even-aged stands of trees scheduled for harvest during the planning period have generally reached culmination of mean annual increment of growth. This requirement applies only to regeneration harvest of even-aged stands on lands identified as suitable for timber production and where timber production is a management objective for the harvest.
- (i) The culmination of mean annual increment of growth requirement does not apply to cutting for experimental or research purposes; to non-regeneration harvests, such as thinning or other stand improvement measures; to management of uneven-aged stands or to stands under uneven-aged silvicultural systems; and to salvage or sanitation harvesting of timber stands which are substantially damaged by fire, windthrow, or other catastrophe, or which are in imminent danger from insect or disease attack.

- (ii) A plan may identify categories of activities that are exceptions to the culmination of mean annual increment if necessary to meet resource objectives, such as wildlife habitat enhancement, visual enhancement, or riparian area improvement. Exceptions to the culmination of mean annual increment requirement and the reasons for these exceptions must be specifically disclosed during the public participation process for a plan.
- (c) Limitation on timber harvest—(1) Estimate of the long-term sustained-yield capacity. The responsible official must estimate the amount of timber that could be harvested annually in perpetuity on a sustained-yield basis from National Forest System lands identified as suitable for timber harvest (§219.16). This estimate must be based on the yield of timber that could be harvested consistent with achievement of objectives or desired conditions in the applicable plan and a specified management intensity consistent with these multiple use objectives. Increased harvest levels may be based on intensified management practices, such as reforestation, thinning, and tree improvement if such practices justify increasing the harvests in accordance with the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act. Such estimates of yield must be adjusted downward if anticipated practices are not successfully implemented to achieve objectives or desired conditions. The responsible official may combine one or more administrative units, or parts of administrative units, for the purpose of estimating the amount of timber that could be harvested annually on a sustained-yield basis.
- (2) <u>Limitation on timber sold</u>. Within any decade, the responsible official must limit the quantity of timber sold during that decade from the lands identified as suitable for timber harvest to a quantity equal to or less than that estimated in paragraph (c)(1) of this section.
- (3) <u>Exceptions to limitations of timber sold</u>. The responsible official may sell timber from areas that are substantially and adversely affected by fire, wind, or other events, or for which there is an imminent threat from insects or disease, and may either substitute such timber for timber that would otherwise be sold or, if not feasible, sell such timber over and above the limit established in paragraph (c)(1) of this section. If departure from the quantity of timber established in paragraph (c)(2) of this section is necessary to meet overall multiple use objectives of the plan, the requirements in 16 U.S.C. 1611 must be followed.

(b) Transition period. For each unit of the National Forest System, the transition

period begins on the effective date of this subpart and ends one year after the effective date of this subpart.

* * * * * * *

(d)(2) Plan amendments initiated during the transition period may continue using the provisions of the planning regulations in effect before November 9, 2000 (See 36 CFR parts 200 to 299, Revised as of July 1, 2000) or may conform to the requirements of this subpart.

* * * * * * *

(e)(1) The responsible official is not required to halt the process and start over. The responsible official may apply this subpart as appropriate to complete the plan development, plan amendment, or plan revision process.

* * * * * * *

§ 219.16 Definitions.

Timber harvest: The removal of trees for wood fiber use and other multiple-use purposes.

* * * * * * *

Alternative E meets the purpose and need for action through the following features:

- Includes requirements that are clear and readily understood;
- Makes efficient use of Agency staff resources and collaborative efforts;
- Is within Agency planning budgets;
- Provides for diversity of plan and animal species, consistent with capabilities of NFS lands;
- Requires analyses that are within the Agency's capability to conduct;
- Recognizes the strategic nature of land management plans;
- Considers best available science;
- Requires public involvement in development of a monitoring strategy, taking into
 account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures and provides
 the responsible official sufficient discretion to decide how much information is
 needed;
- Promotes the use of adaptive management;
- Involves the public;
- Guides sustainable management; and
- Complies with applicable laws, regulations, and policies.

This alternative addresses the following issues:

- The timber management requirements issue by including the timber management requirements of NFMA section 6(g);
- The identification of lands not suited for timber harvest issue by including the suitability requirement of NFMA section 6(g);
- The standards and prohibitions issue by explicitly allowing standards and guidelines; and
- The environmental impact statement issue by requiring that plan development, revision, and amendment comply with Agency NEPA procedures, which would involve an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement for prohibitions or final decisions concerning projects or activities.

Alternatives Eliminated from Detailed Study ____

Several additional alternatives were suggested by respondents to the notice of intent to prepare this environmental impact statement; however, none meet the stated purpose and need for action as discussed below.

Alternative F

This suggested alternative consists of a modification of the proposed action with the following features:

- Declares that ecological sustainability is the prime directive for national forest management;
- Requires land management plans to contain an annual monitoring and evaluation
 process specifying the resources to be monitored, monitoring frequency, data to
 be collected, how data is to be collected, and trigger points that require
 immediate attention:
- Requires land management plans to contain must-achieve natural resource standards, and;
- Requires that land management plans and amendments comply with NFMA and be documented in an environmental impact statement and record of decision.

This alternative does not meet the purpose and need for action in that it places ecological sustainability above all other multiple-use sustained-yield principles. The 2001 NFMA Planning Rule Review found this concept "at odds with the reality that the three components of sustainability (ecological, economic, and social) are inextricably linked and cannot be separated", "conflicts with Congressional direction", and "establishes the key requirement for forest planning, a criterion that is impossible to measure with clarity and any degree of scientific consensus." Accordingly, the modification to declare that ecological sustainability is the prime directive does not meet the purpose and need to comply with NFMA, or to require analyses that are within the Agency's capability to conduct.

The monitoring requirements in this alternative do not meet the purpose and need for a planning rule that recognizes the strategic nature of land management plans. The suggested monitoring requirements certainly have merit, but they are more operational than strategic in their detail. Details similar to those suggested can be found in Forest Service Manual (FSM) 1909.12, section 12, which requires that the strategic monitoring program be described in the plan while the operational components are described in several other documents associated with the plan's monitoring program: (1) annual evaluation report, (2) comprehensive evaluation report, (3) monitoring guide, and (4) annual monitoring work plan.

Absent the two modifications that do not meet the purpose and need, the second two modifications in the suggested alternative largely duplicate Alternative E. Alternative E includes the resource standards related to timber harvest from NFMA section 6(g) and explicitly allows for other standards. While Alternative E does not require an environmental impact statement, any plans that approve projects and activities, or that command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or that grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments would require an environmental assessment or an environmental impact statement. It should also be noted that the respondent contends that NFMA requires preparation of an environmental impact statement for development and revision of land management plans. In fact, NFMA only requires that a planning rule include direction on when and for what plans an environmental impact statement shall be prepared (16 U.S.C 1604(g)(1)).

Alternative G

One respondent suggested using the Wilderness Society's forest vision, America's National Forests in the 21st Century: The Wilderness Society's Vision (The Wilderness Society 1999) as a basis for developing an alternative that provides greater protection for forest resources than the 1982, 2000, or 2005 planning rules. The Wilderness Society's paper presents a number of ideas, positions, and suggestions concerning forest management and land management planning. The paper presents five principles to achieve the vision. Some of the suggestions would require Congressional action to redefine the purpose of the National Forest System and, therefore does not meet the purpose and need to comply with applicable laws. The Agency believes other suggestions related to public involvement, availability of information, and consideration of best available science are already addressed within the range of alternatives. However, the vision itself does not represent an alternative planning rule.

Alternative H

One respondent suggested crafting an alternative where restoration is the core purpose of Federal land management. This alternative would require Congressional action to redefine the purpose of the National Forest System and, therefore does not meet the purpose and need to comply with applicable laws.

Alternative I

One respondent suggested developing an alternative that "substantively increases protection of fish and wildlife" while another suggested an alternative should be crafted that ensures population security for plant and animals. The NFMA directs the Forest Service to "provide for diversity of plant and animals based on suitability and capability of the specific land area..." Substantive increases in protection and insurance of diversity or security of populations are beyond the capability of the National Forest System lands and, therefore, do not meet the purpose and need to provide for diversity of plan and animal species, consistent with capabilities of National Forest System lands.

Alternative Comparison _

The proposed planning rule and the alternatives considered in this environmental impact statement would affect the *process* whereby NFS land management plans are developed, revised, and amended. They establish administrative procedures. None of these rules dictate how administrative units of the NFS are to be managed. The Agency does not expect that any of these rules would dictate the mix of uses that may occur on any or all units of the NFS. The proposed planning rule and the alternatives are all the same in that they would have no direct, indirect, or cumulative impact on the human environment.

The five alternatives are compared below in terms of how they address the significant issues identified in Chapter 1. Detailed responses to the issues are found in Chapter 3.

Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities Issue

The alternatives in this environmental impact statement provide for diversity in three different ways within the five alternatives considered. All three ways have provisions

designed to provide for sustaining the diversity of plant and animal communities as required by NFMA.

All three ways have provisions for monitoring that apply to species diversity. Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) require that the plan monitoring program consider key social, economic, and ecological performance measures. Species diversity is part of ecological performance. Alternative B (2000 planning rule) requires monitoring of ecological conditions known or suspected to support focal species and selected species-at-risk. Monitoring of species populations is optional. Alternative C (1982 planning rule) requires monitoring of population trends of MIS species. Alternative C supplies the least discretion to the responsible official.

All three alternative ways have analysis provisions for diversity criteria. Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) require that plans provide a framework to contribute to sustaining native developed ecological systems by providing conditions to support a diversity of native plant and animal species. The analysis provisions in Alternatives A, D, and E are in the in the Forest Service Directive System. Alternative B (2000 rule) requires a high likelihood of viability of native and desired non-native species. Alternative C requires responsible officials to maintain "viable populations of native and desired non-native species within the planning area." By comparison, NFMA requires only that managers "provide for diversity of plant and animal communities based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area in order to meet overall multiple-use objectives." Alternative B (2000 rule) has the most intensive analysis requirements.

Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g) Issue

All alternatives incorporate the requirements related to timber management from NFMA. With the exception of a few minor variations in phraseology, the alternatives use identical language. Alternatives A (2005 rule) and D (2005 rule modified) place most of the NFMA requirements in the Forest Service Directive system (see Forest Service Manual (FSM 1921.12 and Forest Service Handbook FSH 1909.12, chapter 60 online at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/index5.html). Alternative B (No Action, 2000 rule) has some requirements in the directives and some in the rule. Alternative C (1982 rule) places most of the requirements within the rule. Only alternative E (2005 rule modified) includes all the requirements within the rule. Since Agency employees should not depart from the directive system without appropriate justification and supervisory concurrence of the statutory language of NFMA continues to be the controlling legal authority under each of the alternatives.

If the Agency developed plans under the provisions of each of the five different alternatives, plans could have different tones and formats. For example, a plan produced following guidance from alternative C might state, "even-aged cut blocks should be shaped and blended with the natural terrain", and a plan following alternative A might not discuss even-aged cut blocks. Under Alterative A, Forest Service directives require responsible officials to shape such cut blocks to be shaped and blended with the natural terrain. Therefore, when the guidance from the rule and the directive system are considered together, it is unlikely that timber management would be significantly

_

¹ OMB's "Final Bulletin for Agency Good Guidance Practices, 1/18/07

different under any of the alternatives. Under each alternative, the unit's timber management would be consistent with direction from NFMA.

Identification of lands not suited for timber production (16 U.S.C. 1604(k)) Issue

All alternatives provide guidance to identify lands not suited for timber production, as directed by NFMA. Alternatives A (2005 rule), B (No Action, 2000 rule), D (2005 rule modified), and E (2005 rule as modified) provide a brief description of the requirements with additional details in the Forest Service Directive system (see Forest Service Manual (FSM 1921.12 and Forest Service Handbook FSH 1909.12, chapter 60 online at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/index5.html). Alternative C (1982 rule) provides extensive detail within the rule. Alternative C envisions the planning process using alternatives when plans are developed, amended, or revised to explore different management intensities for timber production on suited lands. Alternative C provisions include various required economic analysis when plans are developed, amended, or revised.

Standards and Prohibitions Issue

The differences between the alternatives with respect to standards are few.

Provisions in Alternatives A, D, and E include the use of guidelines in the 2005 planning rule. Alternative E explicitly allows responsible officials to include standards in plans. Under Alternative A and D, responsible officials may include standards. With guidelines under these three alternatives, responsible officials have the discretion to approve projects or activities when the project or activity design varies from the guideline but the design is an effective means of meeting the purpose of the guideline to maintain or contribute to the attainment of relevant desired conditions and objectives. If variance were appropriate, the responsible official's rationale would be fully explained in the project and activity decision document. Under these alternatives, managers have the flexibility to use appropriate direction based on the site-specific requirements of a project. The focus of environmental analysis is not at the plan level, but at the project level where proposals can be analyzed at the appropriate scope and scale. Collaboration is emphasized at all phases of land management planning.

Alternative B uses standards of the 2000 planning rule. Standards may be mandatory (shall) or discretionary (should). Some repetition of law, policy, or regulation is expected. Collaboration is emphasized at all phases of planning, including the project level.

Alternative C uses the standards and guidelines approach of the 1982 planning rule. Managers have the discretion to vary from forest plan standards and guidelines through site-specific plan amendment. Public involvement is emphasized at all phases of planning and project development.

Environmental Impact Statement Issue

The alternatives present an array of responses to the three parts of this issue (alternatives, public involvement, and cumulative effects). Alternatives B and C involve consideration of alternatives to the proposal traditionally found in an environmental impact statement, while Alternatives A, D, and E allow for an iterative approach to development of a proposed action in which various options are considered before a proposal is made. Public involvement opportunities do not differ dramatically between the alternatives. All

alternatives provide public involvement opportunities equal to or greater than public involvement opportunities required by Agency NEPA procedures for preparation of an environmental impact statement. Alternatives B, C, and plan components that approve or prohibit projects or activities under Alternatives A, D, and E would include a NEPA cumulative effects analysis. For plan components under Alternatives A, D, and E that do not approve or prohibit projects or activities, the traditional NEPA cumulative effects analysis would be conducted as projects and activities are proposed for approval. Additionally, Alternatives A, D, and E require preparation of comprehensive evaluation reports at the time of plan development and revision. Such reports describe current resource conditions and trends. For amendments, annual evaluations of monitoring information would reflect changing conditions, science, and other relevant information.

Best Available Science and Land Management Plans Issue

All of the alternatives address the role of science in the planning process. Starting with Alternative C, the Forest Service successively clarified and strengthened the role science has in the planning process. However, the alternatives that represent the more recently proposed rules (Alternatives A, B, D, and E) describe this role more explicitly than Alternative C (1982 rule).

Alternatives A, B, D, and E articulate that the responsible official has discretion on how to accomplish considering the best available science. However, Alternative B has more stated requirements, in particular, requiring responsible officials to ensure that plan amendments and revisions are consistent with best available science. This presents a significant challenge to responsible officials on how to accomplish this determination. Even though the responsible official may use a science advisory board under Alternative B to evaluate the use of science in planning, Alternative B does not establish the criteria to use in reviewing the consistency with the best available science. Alternative B allows the responsible official to establish that evaluation criteria in working with the reviewing participants, notably a science advisory board.

Alternatives A, D, and E explicitly allow responsible officials to also use science advisory boards as well as independent, scientific peer reviews to evaluate how the best available science is taken into account during the planning process. Documenting whether plan amendments or revisions are consistent with the best available science under Alternative B or documenting how the best available science is taken into account under Alternatives A, D, and E are greater Agency obligations than the "integrated consideration" of science requirement in NFMA (16 U.S.C. 1604(b)).

Management requirements Issue

Alternative C (1982 rule) uses the term "management requirements" as a category to include direction for unit planning and project implementation regarding compliance with a variety of laws and regulations. This direction falls under seven different headings: (a) Resource protection; (b) Vegetative manipulation; (c) Silvicultural practices; (d) Evenaged management; (e) Riparian Areas; (f) Soil and Water and; (g) Diversity. This direction generally reiterates laws, regulations, and Agency directives. Recognizing that planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies, the rest of the alternatives (A, B, D, and E) do not contain minimum specific management requirements as a category section. When considered in conjunction with the applicable laws,

regulations, and Forest Service directives, all alternatives would result in similar guidance for resource protection.

How Each Alternative Meets the Purpose and Need for Action

With the exception of Alternative B, the "no-action" alternative, each alternative considered in detail meets the purpose and need for action. However, each action alternative addresses the purpose and need for action differently. To facilitate comparison, each alternative is displayed in the following table in terms of how it fulfills the purpose and need for action. Note that some of these topics are also included in the issues discussion.

Table 1—Comparison of Alternatives to Purpose and Need for Action

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Readily understood	Requirements are clear, where detail is lacking Forest Service Directives provide clarity. No applicable case law has been developed	Analytical requirements for ecological sustainability and monitoring are very complex and unclear	Rule is understood based on experience and case law from the courts.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A
Efficient ²	About 3 years to revise	About 6 years to revise	About 5 years to revise	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A
Cost Effective ³ – (annual average Agency costs)	98 million	129 million	103 million	94 million	99 million
Consistent with capabilities of NFS lands for diversity of plant and animal communities	Rule requirements for diversity (self-sustaining populations) provide guidelines based on the suitability and capability of NFS lands.	Rule requirements for diversity (high likelihood of viability of species populations) provide guidelines based on the suitability and capability of NFS lands.	Rule requirements for diversity (viable populations), are more stringent than the requirements of NFMA	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

² U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service. Cost-Benefit Analysis - The Proposed Rule (36 CFR 219) for National Forest Land Management Planning. (2007)

³ Ibid

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Within Agency's capability to implement	The alternative is within the Agency's capability. The analysis requirements of the planning rule do not apply to projects. Rule provides ability to customize process to meet need of staff and stakeholders.	Guidance about ecological sustainability would be difficult if not impossible to accomplish. The 2000 rule lacks recognition of the limits of Agency budget and personnel. Confusion about whether plan analysis requirements for ecological sustainability apply to projects or not. Requirements for national science advisory board, regional science advisory board, regional science consistency reviews require complexity in the review of the best available science.	Agency is capable: however, the 1982 rule requires many complex analysis requirements. The rule requires, alternatives, benchmarks, effects of hypothetical projects, management area direction, management indicator species (MIS), management prescriptions, minimum management requirements, and so on The plan analysis requirements of viability apply to projects,	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Recognizes the strategic nature of planning	This rule recognizes the strategic nature of planning	The rule does not recognize the strategic nature of planning. The rule provides direction for project planning, confusion about which parts of the rule apply to project planning.	The rule mixes strategic, tactical, and operational procedures. The rule provides direction for project implementation. The rule gives the impression that plans make project and activity decisions, when plans seldom make such authorizations.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Use of science	The rule requires the responsible official to take into account the best available science.	The rule requires the responsible official to be consistent with best available science when amending or revising plans. However, doing project analysis the responsible official must consider science. In addition, the rule requires a national science advisory board, regional science advisory boards, and science consistency reviews. The 2000 rule does not recognize limitations on the availability of scientists in regional assessments, plan revisions, plan amendments, and project planning.	Research needs are identified during planning and periodically reviewed during monitoring and evaluation. Planning teams must integrate knowledge of the physical, biological, economic, and social sciences into the planning process.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Monitoring	The rule requires public involvement in development of the monitoring strategy. The rule provides the most discretion to responsible officials. It does not specify project monitoring requirements. Requires the plan monitoring program to take into account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures	1. Unnecessary detailed requirements, 2. Confusing mix of project and plan level monitoring direction, 3. Very prescriptive, lack of discretion 4. Requires monitoring of ecological conditions to support focal species and selected species-at-risk, but allows the responsible official discretion in the monitoring of species population trends.	The rule supplies discretion to responsible officials except for monitoring of MIS ⁴ . The rule requires monitoring of population trends of MIS. This alternative has the least discretion regarding monitoring of population trends. Often responsible officials monitor habitats (so long as the plan says we will monitor habitat), even though at some point the responsible official must make the linkage to populations.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A
Plans must be adaptive and based on current information and science	Strongly promotes the use of adaptive management principles to support continuous improvement of management.	Embraces adaptive management principles	Does not explicitly encourage adaptive management.	Similar to Alternative A, except does not require EMS	Similar to Alternative A, except does not require EMS.
Planning must involve the public	The rule emphasizes public involvement including collaboration.	The rule emphasizes public involvement including collaboration.	The rule requires public notice and comment.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

⁴ MIS – Management Indicator Species

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Plans must guide sustainable management	This alternative is based on sustainability	Sustainability is a guiding principle of the 2000 planning rule.	The 1982 rule says that plans provide for multiple use and sustained yield of goods and services from the NFS lands in a way that maximizes long-term net public benefits in an environmentally sound manner. Therefore, the 1982 rule includes concepts similar to sustainability.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

	Alt A, 2005 Planning Rule	Alt B – No Action, 2000 Planning Rule without transition	Alt C, 1982 Planning Rule	Alt D, no EMS	Alt E, 2005 modified
Planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies	Same as Alternative B	This rule recognizes that planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies. The rule does not include minimum management requirements. The rule creates a framework to comply with ESA ⁵ , CAA ⁶ , CWA ⁷ , and so on. During planning, the responsible official develops guidance for protection of natural resources through the collaborative process and considering the best available science.	The 1982 rule is redundant with other resource requirements such as ESA, CAA, and CWA by specifying minimum management requirements to meet or exceed the requirements of other laws, rather that recognizing that planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies.	Same as Alternative B	Same as Alternative B

⁵ ESA – Endangered Species Act ⁶ CAA – Clean Air Act ⁷ CWA – Clean Water Act

Table 2—Comparison of Alternatives by Issue

Issues	Alternative A Proposed Action 2005 Rule	Alternative B No Action 2000 Rule	Alternative C 1982 Rule	Alternative D 2005 Rule Modified	Alternative E 2005 Rule Modified
Diversity	Rule requires a framework to contribute to ecological sustainability through ecosystem diversity, and where responsible official decides that additional provisions are needed to provide for species diversity then the plan must include additional provisions within the limits of Agency authorities, the capability of the plan area, and multiple use objectives. Responsible Official has discretion to design monitoring program.	Rule requires plan decisions must provide for ecological conditions that provide a high likelihood of viability of species. Responsible Official must monitor habitat of focal species and selected species-at-risk, but has discretion in monitoring of species populations.	Rule requires substantive plan requirements to manage habitat to maintain viable populations of native and desired species. Responsible Official must select MIS, and monitor MIS population trends.	Same as Alternative A	Same as Alternative A

Issues	Alternative A Proposed Action 2005 Rule	Alternative B No Action 2000 Rule	Alternative C 1982 Rule	Alternative D 2005 Rule Modified	Alternative E 2005 Rule Modified
Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g)	In the directives	In the rule	In the rule	In the directives	In the rule
Identification of lands which are not suited for timber production 16 U.S.C. 1604(k)	Rule provides brief direction, with substantive detail in directives.	Rule provides direction, with additional detail in directives.	Rule provides substantive direction.	Same as Alternative A.	Rule provides direction, with additional detail in directives.
Standards and Prohibitions	Not included explicitly	Explicitly includes standards	Explicitly includes standards	Not included explicitly	Explicitly allows standards and prohibitions
Environmental Impact Statement	CE ⁸ would be typical	EIS ⁹ for revision; EIS or EA ¹⁰ or CE for amendment	EIS for plan development, revision, or significant amendment; EA or EIS for amendment	CE would be typical	CE would be typical, however an EIS or EA would be required for plan components that approve or prohibit projects or activities

⁸ CE – categorical exclusion

⁹ EIS – environmental impact statement

¹⁰ EA – environmental assessment

Issues	Alternative A Proposed Action 2005 Rule	Alternative B No Action 2000 Rule	Alternative C 1982 Rule	Alternative D 2005 Rule Modified	Alternative E 2005 Rule Modified
Alternatives	May have iterative development of options	Alternatives considered	Alternatives considered	Iterative development of options	Iterative development of options
Public Involvement in Planning	Collaborate/ participate in CER ¹¹ ; Early and frequent collaboration in establishing plan components, and designing monitoring program	Early and frequent opportunities for participation at responsible official's discretion plus NEPA requirements for public participation	NEPA requirements for public participation. Additional public involvement at responsible line officer discretion	Collaborate/ participate in CER; Early and frequent collaboration in establishing plan components, and designing monitoring program	Collaborate/ participate in CER; Early and frequent collaboration in establishing plan components, and designing monitoring program

.

¹¹ CER – comprehensive evaluation report

Issues	Alternative A Proposed Action 2005 Rule	Alternative B No Action 2000 Rule	Alternative C 1982 Rule	Alternative D 2005 Rule Modified	Alternative E 2005 Rule Modified
Cumulative Effects of Plans	Considered in scoping. Cumulative effects were also analyzed when planning CE promulgated.	Cumulative effects considered for revision and amendment.	Cumulative effects considered for plan development or revision	Considered in scoping. Cumulative effects were also analyzed when planning CE promulgated.	Considered in scoping. Cumulative effects were also analyzed when planning CE promulgated. If an EA or EIS is prepared, cumulative effects would be included
EMS	EMS in rule	Rule silent on EMS	Rule silent on EMS	Rule silent on EMS	Rule silent on EMS
Best Available Science	Must take into account	Must be consistent with	Silent	Must take into account	Must take into account
Management Requirements	Does not contain minimum specific management requirements as a category section.	Does not contain minimum specific management requirements as a category section.	Uses "management requirements" as a category to include direction for unit planning and project implementation regarding compliance with a variety of laws and regulations.	Does not contain minimum specific management requirements as a category section.	Does not contain minimum specific management requirements as a category section.

CHAPTER 3. AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES

Affected Environment

The Forest Service is responsible for managing the lands and resources of the National Forest System, which include approximately 193 million acres in 44 states, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands. The System is composed of 155 national forests, 20 national grasslands, 1 national prairie, and other miscellaneous lands under the jurisdiction of the Secretary of Agriculture (the Secretary).

The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 (88 Stat. 476 *et seq.*), as amended by the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA) (90 Stat. 2949 *et seq.*; 16 U.S.C. 1601-1614), requires the Secretary to promulgate regulations under the principles of the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 that establish the process for the development and revision of land and resource management plans for the aforementioned units in the National Forest System (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)).

The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules would affect the *process* whereby National Forest System land management plans are developed, revised, and amended. They would establish administrative procedures to follow in developing, amending, and revising these plans. These rules do not dictate how administrative units of the National Forest System are to be managed. The Agency does not expect that any of these rules would dictate the uses that could occur on any or all units of the National Forest System.

It is important to note the distinction between the environment affected by land management plans and the environment affected by a planning rule. Land management plans guide all natural resource management activities on their respective National Forest System units. Plans will typically influence the choice and design of future projects and activities in a plan area and depending on the substance of particular plan components, could have an effect on the environment. In contrast, a rule prescribing a framework for such plans only affects the planning process – not the human environment.

Environmental Consequences

Nature of Rules and Land Management Plans

Section 31.12 of FSH 1909.15 excludes from documentation in an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement (absent extraordinary circumstances) "rules, regulations, or policies to establish Service-wide administrative procedures, program processes, or instruction." The proposed rule clearly falls within this category of actions and the Agency believes that no extraordinary circumstances exist that would require preparation of an environmental assessment or an environmental impact statement for a planning rule. However, the United States District Court in *Citizens for Better Forestry et al. v. USDA* (N.D. Calif.) held that "...the agency must conduct further analysis and evaluation of the impact of the 2005 Rule..." Without conceding the

correctness of the Court's ruling, which is being addressed through the judicial process, the Agency has decided to undertake this process, thus expediting much needed plan revisions.

Land management plans are strategic in nature. A plan establishes a long-term management framework for a National Forest System unit. Within a plan framework, specific projects and activities may be proposed, approved, and implemented depending on specific conditions and circumstances at the time of approval and implementation. The U.S. Supreme Court described the nature of land and resource management plans in *Ohio* Forestry Ass'n v. Sierra Club, (523 U.S. at 733 (1998)) explaining that plans are "tools for Agency planning and management." The Court recognized that the provisions of such plans "do not command anyone to do anything or to refrain from doing anything; they do not grant, withhold, or modify any formal legal license, power, or authority; they do not subject anyone to any civil or criminal liability; they create no legal rights or obligations" (523 U.S. 733 (1998)). The Supreme Court repeated its characterization of analogous plan decisions as strategic without any immediate on the ground impact in *Norton* v. Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance, 124 S. Ct. 2373, 2382 (2004). The Supreme Court again observed that "land use plans are a preliminary step in the overall process of managing public lands—'designed to guide and control future management actions and the development of subsequent, more detailed and limited scope plans for resources and uses." In addition, "a land use plan is not ordinarily the medium for affirmative decisions that implement the agency's 'project[ions].'" (542 U.S. 13 (2004))

Plans developed under the proposed rule and alternatives typically cannot be linked in a cause-effect relationship over time and within a geographic area to effects on the human environment without proposals for actions that approve or prohibit projects and activities. Rules that set out the process for the development, revision, and amendment of land management plans are even further removed from any foreseeable action from which environmental effects might arise. While this environmental impact statement is focused on the effects of the proposed and alternative planning rules rather than the effects of plans themselves, the foregoing discussion points out that the proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules are even further removed from any actions with environmental, social, or economic effects that can be meaningfully evaluated. (40 CFR 1508.23)

Environmental Review of Past Planning Rules

The Agency's first planning rule, promulgated under the Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 as amended by the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA) was published in 1979 and accompanied by an environmental impact statement (44 FR 53927). The environmental impact statement concluded:

"The specific effects of implementing any of the alternative regulation proposals are virtually impossible to quantify. Regulations developed to direct the process of preparation and revision of land management plans have no direct effect on the human environment. The regulations do not commit land or resources. They only establish procedures and standards and guidelines for planning future commitments."

The environmental impact statement also stated:

"The effects on implementing alternative regulations on the physical and biological environment are not measurable except qualitatively. Each alternative set of regulations enhances plant and animal diversity, protects soil and water values and the visual resource, and ensures long-term productivity. The actual results will be known after the individual forest or regional plans are completed."

"There is no reliable way to estimate quantitatively the effect on the economic environment of promulgating any of the alternative regulations. It is assumed that better management decisions will result from improved economic analysis, because those decisions will be based on cost effectiveness data. Overall management of the NFS should become more cost effective and efficient."

"Effects upon the social environment are difficult to quantify. No significant impacts or differences between the alternatives are anticipated."

The Forest Service prepared an environmental assessment when it revised its planning rule in 1982 (47 FR 43026). The environmental assessment stated:

"...the specific effects of implementing the regulations and their revisions in whatever form, are virtually impossible to quantify. These regulations are formulated to direct the *process* of preparing and revising land management plans. Consequently, they have no direct effect on the quality of the environment or the economy. They only establish procedures, and standards and guidelines for planning future commitments."

"Some general qualified effects or impacts of alternatives to the current regulations were presented in the FEIS which accompanied the regulations published in the Federal Register."

In 2000, the Forest Service published an environmental assessment for another revision to its planning rule. Recognizing that the Forest Service now had a categorical exclusion in its National Environmental Policy Act implementing procedures, the environmental assessment stated:

"Although not required under the Forest Service regulations implementing the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), the Forest Service has decided to prepare this environmental assessment..."

The environmental assessment described, qualitatively, a number of effects that "could" occur, but went on to say:

"Thus the adoption of the proposed rule would not have a direct effect on the quality of the human environment. However, future implementation of the proposed rule on individual National Forests or Grasslands could affect decisions that are made for those lands."

"Neither the Proposed Action nor the No Action Alternative requires any irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources. Rather, the existing and proposed planning rules merely describe the process that the Forest Service currently uses and would use to make planning decisions for the National Forests and Grasslands. Any commitments of resources would take place at the forest level after the preparation and consideration of appropriate NEPA analysis and documentation."

Direct Effects

The foregoing excerpts from environmental reviews of past planning rules illustrate the speculative nature of linking rules that establish the process for the development and revision of land management plans to environmental effects that can be meaningfully evaluated. The environmental impact statement for the 1979 planning rule spoke to this lack of cause and effect when it said, "Actual effects on the production of goods and services will be determined and verified when the planning is completed." In 1979, the Forest Service believed planning would be completed when a land management plan was approved and that plan environmental impact statements also would generally be sufficient for the approval of future proposed projects and activities. The Forest Service now knows that at the point of plan approval, one can only speculate about the projects that might be proposed and budgeted and the natural events, such as fire, flood, insects, and disease that might occur that will make previously un-contemplated projects necessary or force changes in the projects and the effects of projects that were contemplated. Accordingly, planning is not completed until specific activities are authorized or prohibited and environmental effects meaningfully evaluated.

Ultimately, land management plans for each unit of the National Forest System reflect social and economic values placed on National Forest System lands and environmental laws, regulations, and requirements for protection of the environment. The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules merely establish a process by which these values and environmental protections are recognized and documented. Consequently, the proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules have no direct effect on the human environment.

Some people disagree with the Agency's conclusions concerning the absence of environmental effects of planning rules and have offered alternative viewpoints of the effects of the proposed planning rule. These alternative viewpoints make up the issues identified in Chapter 1, which are discussed in Chapters 2 and 3.

The alternative viewpoints collectively assert that the proposed rule does indeed have environmental effects. Under this view, because subsequent actions with ground disturbing effects are foreseeable as a result of a new rule, the rule itself is believed to be a causative factor in those effects. For this to occur however, the following links in this

chain of causation must be connected: First, a planning rule would have to shape not only the framework for land management plans, but also influence their specific content. Second, the content of land management plans would influence the choice and design of future projects and activities in a plan area. Finally, certain projects and activities would have to be carried out or prohibited as a direct result of a land management plan. These events are not dominoes, certain to fall in line as the one before it topples. These events are separate and independent Agency decisions tailored to the legal, fiscal, resource, policy, and other constraints specific to each level of decision. Such decisions are also guided by the judgment of the official responsible for the decision at each level.

The various planning rules require plan components such as desired condition, goals, objectives, standards and/or guidelines, identification of land suitability for resource management, identification of special areas, and monitoring strategies. The individual units must identify their own respective desired conditions, goals and objectives, and the standards and/or guidelines to achieve them. The individual units must also identify which of their lands are suitable for resource management, and which lands should have or be recommended for special designation. Individual units must also develop their own monitoring strategies based on specific goals and objectives and local issues.

While land management plans would influence the choice and design of future projects and activities in a plan area, they do not compel or prohibit these actions. Just because a plan identifies certain lands as suitable for timber production does not dictate when, where, or how many acres, if any, of those lands will see a timber harvest. Conversely, lands not identified as suitable for timber production may still be harvested for other resource management purposes.

The factors attendant to each of these determinations are inherently unknowable in the context of a programmatic analysis. Any attempt to forecast them could be nothing more than speculation. The Council on Environmental Quality's Forty Most Asked Questions Concerning CEQ's National Environmental Policy Act Regulations, Question #18, states where there is total uncertainty about the future, the Agency is not required to speculate. (46 FR 18026) CEQ's regulations also account for uncertainty by defining the point where affects can be meaningfully evaluated as the appropriate time for analysis (40 CFR 1508.23), and by acknowledging that decisionmaking can occur in the face of incomplete or missing information. Moreover, the regulations state that analysis of reasonably foreseeable impacts should not be based on pure conjecture. (40 CFR 1502.22)

Some have suggested that by meeting the stated purpose and need for action, the Agency's land management planning would be more efficient and less costly. They contend the savings in time and dollars would benefit project planning, resulting in more projects and therefore affect the environment. The improvements to land management planning efficiency and cost are not shared with project planning. Project planning would still be subject to environmental laws, regulations, and other requirements for the protection of the environment as they always have been. It is possible that in future years, savings in the Agency's planning budget could find its way into other resource management budget line items, but it is speculative to predict how Congress would fund the Agency.

Even accepting the alternative viewpoint that the proposed planning rule and alternatives would have environmental effects, they are too speculative to analyze. The promulgation of a planning rule that establishes administrative procedures to follow in developing,

revising, and amending land management plans is not yet at a stage in the development of an action where the effects can be meaningfully evaluated. (40 CFR 1508.23) When the stage of planning is reached where there is a direct or even indirect cause and effect relationship between a proposed action and an environmental effect, the proposal will be analyzed and documented in the appropriate NEPA document and with appropriate public involvement.

Each of the alternatives includes the following land management plan requirements:

Table 3 Alternative Land Management Plan Requirements

Alternatives A and D	Alternative E	Alternative B	Alternative C ¹
(2005 rule and modified)	(modified 2005 rule)	(2000 rule)	(1982 rule)
Desired Condition	Desired Condition	Desired Condition	Goals
Objectives	Objectives	Objectives	Objectives
Guidelines	Standards	Standards	Standards and Guidelines
Suitability	Suitability	Suitability	Suitability
Special Areas	Special Areas	Special Designations	Wilderness Recommendation
Monitoring	Monitoring	Monitoring	Monitoring

¹ Plans developed under the 1982 rule are often characterized as making six decisions: forest-wide goals and objectives, forest-wide management requirements, management area direction, land suitability, wilderness recommendations, and monitoring. Since forest-wide management requirements and management area direction consist of standards and guidelines, that is what is reflected in this table for purposes of comparison.

Desired Condition

Forest plan goals (in Alternative C) and desired conditions (in all alternatives except C) are the social, economic, and ecological attributes toward which management of the land and resources of the plan area is to be directed. The goals/desired conditions illustrate how the desired landscape would look or function. Desired conditions will not describe the precise activities to be undertaken to bring a forest or grassland to those conditions.

This type of a description states a vision for the desired condition of the forest or grassland. Desired conditions provide a context for future proposed projects or activities. Projects and activities will be developed to help achieve or maintain one or more of the desired conditions of the plan. To be consistent with the plan, a future proposed project or activity can maintain or help achieve one or more desired future conditions, or be neutral to relevant desired conditions. The statement of desired conditions will typically influence the choice and design of future proposed projects and activities in the plan area but does not by itself have any effects on the environment. A planning rule requiring that desired conditions be identified in land management plans but not dictating what those desired conditions should be is even further removed from effects on the environment. Therefore, the desired condition requirement in the proposed action and alternatives has no direct effect on the human environment.

Objectives

Objectives are concise projections of measurable, time-specific intended outcomes. These outcomes typically result from approved projects or activities. Objectives state aspirations to guide the proposed projects and activities for the plan area to help maintain or achieve the desired conditions. Even though objectives identify outcomes aimed at achieving or maintaining desired conditions in the plan area and time frames based on current and past trends of Agency capacity (*i.e.*, budget and personnel), they still are aspirational in nature. Objectives do not approve projects and activities, or command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments. A binding commitment to these objectives would be impossible since Agency budgets for any given year are unknown.

While objectives describe aspirations in the plan area to help achieve desired conditions, they will not create a binding commitment to undertake future proposed projects and activities. Objectives will not set the location, timing, or method of any future proposed project or activity. Rather, they provide strategic benchmarks that are helpful in evaluating progress toward desired conditions. Projects and activities are typically developed and designed to achieve one or more of the objectives of the plan. Objectives help guide the responsible official in setting priorities for future proposed projects to meet the desired conditions. To be consistent with the plan, a project or activity can either help make progress toward one or more objectives, or be neutral to relevant objectives. Objectives will typically influence the choice and design of projects or activities in the plan area but do not have any effects on the environment. A planning rule requiring that objectives be articulated in land management plans but not dictating what those objectives should be is even further removed from any effects on the environment. Therefore, the objective requirement in the proposed action and alternatives has no direct effect on the human environment.

Standards/Guidelines

Standards and/or guidelines under any of the alternatives are be used to design projects or activities to contribute to achieving a plan area's desired conditions. Standards and/or guidelines typically would not approve projects and activities, or command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments. If a plan standard or guideline were to approve projects and activities, or command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments, such a plan component would be subject to appropriate NEPA analysis and documentation.

Standards and/or guidelines describe parameters for activities in an area, recognizing that site-specific NEPA and other analyses conducted during future project and activity decision-making might support adjustment of a standard or guideline in certain circumstances. Thus, standards and/or guidelines will typically influence the development of an Agency proposal for future projects and activities in a plan area and could have an effect on the environment. However, the effects of a planning rule requiring that standards and/or guidelines be included in land management plans but not dictating what those standards and/or guidelines should be, cannot be meaningfully evaluated.

Planning rules requiring specific, mandatory standards and/or guidelines in land management plans might appear to influence the choice and design of future proposed projects and activities, but such influence is remote and speculative. For example, all of the alternatives include timber requirements from section 6(g) of NFMA, either in the rule or through reference to Agency directives. (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)) With one exception, the timber requirements merely repeat the statutory requirements. The exception is the requirement to identify the maximum size of even-aged regeneration harvests as required by NFMA. The acreage chosen by the Agency is a discretionary action. Pursuant to the Act however, a responsible official may exceed the maximum size after appropriate public notice and comment and higher level Agency review. (§1604(g)(3)(F)(iv)) In another example, Alternative C (1982 rule) includes a standard to give special attention to land and vegetation for approximately 100 feet from the edges of all perennial streams, lakes, and other bodies of water. (§219.27(e)(1982)) The standard requires 'special attention' but then repeats the NFMA requirement to provide protection for streams, streambanks, shorelines, lakes, wetlands, and other bodies of water from detrimental changes in water temperatures, blockages of water courses, and deposits of sediment, where harvests are likely to seriously and adversely affect water conditions or fish habitat. (§1604(g)(3)(E)(iii)) Accordingly, NFMA – not the planning rules – must be credited with this influence on the choice and design of future proposed projects and activities.

Therefore, the standard and/or guideline requirement in the proposed action and alternatives has no direct effect on the human environment.

Suitability

The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act as amended by NFMA requires National Forest System planning rules to "require the identification of the suitability of lands for resource management."

Alternative C (1982 rule) defines suitability as the appropriateness of applying certain resource management activities to a given unit of land as determined by an analysis of the environmental and economic consequences and the alternative uses forgone. Alternative B (2000 rule) defines the converse, in stating that lands are not suited for a particular use if that use: is prohibited by law, regulation, or Executive Order; is incompatible with the mission or policies of the National Forest System; or would result in substantial and permanent impairment of the productivity of the land. Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and variations) describe suitable uses as those that are compatible with desired conditions and objectives for a particular area.

Under Alternatives B (2000 rule) and C (1982 rule), lands would be identified as suitable for certain management practices such as recreation, timber production, livestock grazing, mineral development, or other uses. Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and variations) would require identification of areas within a National Forest System as generally suitable for various uses.

The identification of an area as suitable or generally suitable for various uses does not approve projects or activities, command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments. The identification of land suitability will typically influence future project or activity decision-making but will not have any environmental effects. Actual uses of

specific areas are approved through project and activity decisionmaking. A planning rule requiring the identification of the suitability of lands for resource management in land management plans but not dictating which lands are suitable for what type of management is even further removed from any effects on the human environment. Therefore, the suitability requirement in the proposed action and alternatives has no direct effect on the human environment.

Special Areas/Designations/Recommendations

Special areas are areas within the National Forest System designated because of their unique or special characteristics. Some of these areas are statutorily designated. Other areas may be designated through plan development, amendment, revision, or through a separate administrative process with an appropriate NEPA process.

Special areas that are statutorily designated by Congress include Wilderness and Wild and Scenic River corridors. The responsible official may make preliminary recommendations that ultimately could result in Congressional action, though these recommendations would require additional NEPA documentation before forwarding to Congress.

In some cases, the Forest Supervisor may make recommendations for special areas that would need action at other administrative levels to become final. These special areas include areas designated through a separate administrative process at a national or regional level, or areas designated by a different Agency. Such areas can include, but are not limited to, Research Natural Areas (designated by the Regional Forester with concurrence of the Research Station Director), Experimental Forests (designated by the Forest Service Chief), and National Scenic Byways (designated by the Federal Highway Administration). Appropriate NEPA analysis and documentation would be prepared when such designations are proposed.

The responsible official may designate or remove some special areas through approval of the land management plan, a plan amendment, or plan revision. Such special areas include geological; botanical; zoological; paleonotological; historical; and recreational areas.

Alternative C (1982 rule) requires evaluation of roadless areas for wilderness recommendation and provisions for designation of research natural areas. While not explicit in Alternative C (1982 rule) designation of special areas within a responsible official's authority is allowed. Alternative B (2000 rule) requires evaluation of undeveloped areas for wilderness recommendation and allows responsible officials to recommend administrative designations to higher authorities or to designate special areas within their authority through amendment or revision. Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and variations) require lands possessing wilderness characteristics to be considered for recommendation as potential wilderness and allows responsible officials to designate special areas within their authority through amendment or revision.

The evaluation of lands for preliminary recommendation for wilderness, recommendation to other agencies or higher authority for certain special area designation, and designation of special areas within responsible officials' authority are essentially the same for all of the alternatives. Any designations that prohibit or approve projects or activities will be analyzed in appropriate NEPA documentation. However, a planning rule requiring or

allowing for designation of or recommendations for special areas but not dictating any specific designations will have no effect on the human environment.

Monitoring

All of the alternatives require that land management plans establish monitoring requirements. At a minimum, this would require that plans identify the actions, effects, and resources to be measured; the frequency of measurement; the method of monitoring; and the appropriate reporting intervals. Under all alternatives, monitoring and evaluation would be used to determine if actions are being implemented in accordance with applicable plan direction; if the aggregated outcomes and effects of actions are achieving desired conditions; and if key assumptions underlying management direction are valid.

While the results of monitoring and evaluation inform future proposals and decisions, the design of a monitoring program in a land management plan will not have any effects on the environment. Moreover, a planning rule requiring that a monitoring program be described in land management plans is even further removed from any effects on the human environment. Therefore, the monitoring requirement in the proposed action and alternatives has no direct effect on the human environment.

Indirect Effects

The Council on Environmental Quality regulations implementing the procedural provisions of NEPA define indirect effects as those, "which are caused by the action and are later in time or farther removed in distance, but are still reasonably foreseeable. Indirect effects may include growth inducing effects and other effects related to induced changes in the pattern of land use, population density, or growth rate, and related effects on air and water and other natural systems, including ecosystems." (40 CFR 1508.8)

The Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act as amended by NFMA, requires any National Forest System land management planning rule to be promulgated under the principles of the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960. (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)) Accordingly, the proposed planning rule and alternatives all establish an administrative process for the development, revision, and amendment of land management plans based upon the principle of sustainability.

Alternatives A, D and E (2005 rule and modified versions) state, "...the goal of managing the National Forest System is to sustain the multiple uses of its renewable resources in perpetuity while maintaining the long-term productivity of the land." These alternatives further state, "Maintaining or restoring the health of the land enables the National Forest System to provide a sustainable flow of uses, benefits, products, services, and visitor opportunities."

Alternative B (2000 rule) states, "The first priority for planning to guide management of the National Forest System is to maintain or restore ecological sustainability of national forests and grasslands to provide for a wide variety of uses, values, products, and services.

Alternative C (1982 rule) states, "The resulting plans shall provide for multiple use and sustained yield of goods and services from the National Forest System in a way that maximizes long term net public benefits in an environmentally sound manner." Additionally, this rule calls for "Establishment of goals and objectives for multiple-use

and sustained-yield management of renewable resources without impairment of the productivity of the land."

Although articulated differently, each alternative reiterates the statutory mandate to provide a sustainable flow of goods and services while maintaining the productivity of the land. As discussed above, the proposed action and alternatives do not dictate, prohibit, or approve any specific projects or activities that will have environmental effects. The proposed action and alternatives do not cause any environmental, social, or economic effects that are later in time or farther removed in distance. Therefore, there are no indirect effects from the proposed action or alternatives.

As previously discussed under the heading of Direct Effects, alternative viewpoints have been presented, in which some people disagree with the Agency's conclusions about the absence of environmental effects and have offered alternative viewpoints of the effects of the proposed planning rule and alternatives. As with direct effects under this viewpoint, any indirect effects are inherently unknowable. The uncertainties and contingencies inherent in assessing direct effects make any attempt to forecast indirect effects even more speculative and remote.

As previously discussed, the Council on Environmental Quality's Forty Most Asked Questions Concerning CEQ's National Environmental Policy Act Regulations, Question #18, states where there is total uncertainty about the future, the Agency is not required to speculate. (46 FR 18026) CEQ's regulations also account for uncertainty by defining the point where affects can be meaningfully evaluated as the appropriate time for analysis (40 CFR 1508.23), and by acknowledging that decisionmaking can occur in the face of incomplete or missing information. Moreover, the regulations state that analysis of reasonably foreseeable impacts should not be based on pure conjecture. (40 CFR 1502.22)

Cumulative Effects

The Council on Environmental Quality regulations implementing the procedural provisions of NEPA define a cumulative effect as "the impact on the environment which results from the incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions regardless of what Agency (Federal or non-Federal) or person undertakes such other actions" (40 CFR § 1508.7).

For cumulative impacts to accrue there must first be an impact from the action under review that can then be added to the impacts of other past, present, or reasonably foreseeable future actions. Neither the proposed planning rule nor any of the alternative planning rules dictate how administrative units of the National Forest System are to be managed. These alternative rules establish administrative procedures. The Agency does not expect that any of these rules would dictate the mix of uses on any or all units of the National Forest System., There are no direct or indirect effects to be added to the effects of any past, present, or reasonably foreseeable future actions. Consequently, there are no cumulative effects.

Short-term Uses and Long-term Productivity

NEPA requires consideration of "the relationship between short-term uses of man's environment and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity" (40 CFR

1502.16). As declared by Congress, this includes using all practicable means and measures, including financial and technical assistance, in a manner calculated to foster and promote the general welfare, to create and maintain conditions under which man and nature can exist in productive harmony, and fulfill the social, economic, and other requirements of present and future generations of Americans (NEPA Section 101).

Pursuant to the Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act of 1974 as amended by NFMA, the proposed action and alternatives each ascribe to the principles of the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 in setting out a process for the development and revision of land and resource management plans. Accordingly, plans prepared under any of the alternatives would provide guidance for a sustainable flow of goods and services while maintaining the productivity of the land.

The proposed action and alternatives guide the development of land management plans by requiring those plans to include desired conditions, objectives, standards and/or guidelines, identification of special areas, and monitoring programs. However, these rules neither authorize nor prohibit short-term uses of National Forest System lands.

Unavoidable Adverse Effects

The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules would affect the *process* whereby National Forest System land management plans are developed, revised, and amended. They establish administrative procedures. These rules do not dictate the activities that would occur or not occur on administrative units of the National Forest System. As previously discussed, neither the proposed rule nor any of the alternatives have a direct, indirect, or cumulative effect on the human environment and therefore, none would result in any unavoidable adverse effects.

Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitments of Resources

Irreversible commitments of resources are those that cannot be regained, such as the extinction of a species or the removal of mined ore. Irretrievable commitments are those that are lost for a period of time such as the temporary loss of timber productivity in forested areas that are kept clear for use as a power line rights-of-way or road.

Neither the proposed action nor any of the alternatives require any irreversible or irretrievable commitments of resources. Rather, the proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules merely describe the process the Forest Service would use to make planning decisions for the National Forests and Grasslands. Any commitments of resources would take place when projects or activities are proposed and after the preparation and consideration of appropriate NEPA analysis and documentation.

Other Required Disclosures

NEPA at 40 CFR 1502.25(a) directs "to the fullest extent possible, agencies shall prepare draft environmental impact statements concurrently with and integrated with …other environmental review laws and executive orders."

The Agency plans to comply with the court's order regarding the Endangered Species Act.

Alternatives' Response to the Issues ____

The five alternatives are discussed below in terms of how they address the significant issues identified in Chapter 1.

Diversity of Plant and Animal Communities Issue

Diversity Requirements of NFMA

All of the proposed alternatives must comply with NFMA, which requires regulations that establish the process for development, and revision of land management plans. "The regulations shall include... 3) specifying guidelines for land management plans developed to achieve the goals of the Program which... (B) provide for diversity of plant and animal communities based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area in order to meet overall multiple-use objectives, and within the multiple-use objectives of a land management plan adopted pursuant to this section, provide, where appropriate, to the degree practicable, for steps to be taken to preserve the diversity of tree species similar to that existing in the region controlled by the plan;" (16 U.S.C. 1604 (g)(3)(B))

The National Forest System includes 193 million acres, and individual planning units vary in size. For example, the Tongass National Forest in Alaska is 17 million acres and the Finger Lakes National Forest in New York is only 16,000 acres. The Finger Lakes National Forest does not have the same suitability and capability that the Tongass National Forest does to provide for diversity of plant and animal communities because it does not have the large unfragmented habitats required by some species. The guidelines of a planning rule apply to both national forest examples and diversity guidelines in a rule should be based on the suitability and capability of each forest to meet overall multipleuse objectives.

Because a planning rule must apply to such a wide range of species present in a wide range of environments, its guidance will fall into three areas: general guidance on goals and objectives related to diversity; guidance on how to achieve these goals; and guidance on how to measure success in the achievement of diversity goals and objectives.

Threatened, Endangered, or Proposed Species

The proposed planning rule and alternative planning rules would have no effect to threatened, endangered, or proposed species or to designated or proposed critical habitat.

The promulgation of either the proposed planning rule or any of the alternatives considered is not a "major construction activity", as defined in the implementing regulations for the Endangered Species Act (ESA) at 50 CFR 402.02. As such, preparation of a biological assessment is not required (50 CFR 402.12e). Although a biological assessment is not required, an analysis was conducted in order to examine whether the proposed rule or alternatives have effects on threatened, endangered, or proposed species or critical habitat, such that consultation or conferencing under Section 7 of the ESA would be necessary.

The proposed rule and alternative rules, in and of themselves, would not predetermine management activities for specific project areas or land management plan decisions, nor would they authorize, fund, or carry out any habitat or resource disturbing activities. They would not make any land use allocations, or establish specific standards or guidelines for management of resources. These rules, being strictly procedural, would not

directly result in changes in the management of any particular National Forest or Grassland or in the activities permitted or conducted on those lands. Moreover, because of their procedural nature, there is no reasonable basis for assessing or quantifying the specific effects of any subsequent actions, as such effects will depend upon decisions made during future programmatic and project planning and it is premature to speculate on the specific nature or effects of those decisions.

Other Species

All alternatives set up aspirations for National Forest System (NFS) lands to sustain biological diversity, to sustain populations of rare species, and to sustain habitat for over 3,000 species of birds, mammals, reptiles, fish, amphibians, and over 10,000 plant species. These aspirations might have influence on plans and subsequently, the design of future projects and activities on NFS lands. All alternatives contain provisions for sustaining biodiversity while providing for timber harvest, mineral development, recreational, and other uses.

Response to Issue

The key differences between the alternative rules are their diversity criteria, monitoring requirements and use of adaptive management principles. In other words, how they define successful achievement of species diversity, how they measure this success and how they provide for corrective action.

Diversity criteria

As displayed in the following Diversity Criteria Table, Alternative C (1982 planning rule) would require the Agency to ensure that viable populations of existing native and desired non-native vertebrate species will be maintained. Alternative B requires the Agency to provide for ecological conditions with a high-likelihood of supporting the viability of native and desired non-native species. Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) require plans to provide a framework to contribute to sustaining native ecological systems by providing ecological conditions to support diversity of native plant and animal species in the plan area. Plan components must establish a framework to provide the characteristics of ecosystem diversity in the plan area. If the responsible official determines that additional provisions beyond those for ecosystem diversity are required to provide appropriate ecological conditions for specific threatened and endangered species, species-of-concern, and species-of-interest, then the plan must include additional provisions for these species, consistent with the limits of Agency authorities, the capability of the plan area, and overall multiple use objectives. In addition, the directives for the 2005 rule provide guidance for providing self-sustaining populations.

Table 4 Diversity Criteria

Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 planning rule and modifications) In Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) the rule text sets up an overall goal to provide a framework to provide ecological conditions to support diversity of native plant and animal species in the plan area (36 CFR 219.10.

Self-sustaining Populations

To sustain species diversity FSM 1921.76c says plan components for species-of-concern should provide appropriate ecological conditions to allow self-sustaining populations of the species to be well distributed and interactive, within the bounds of the life history, distribution, and natural population fluctuations of the species within the capability of the landscape and consistent with multiple-use objectives.

Alternative B, 2000 planning rule

High Likelihood of viability Alternative B (2000 planning rule) states "Plan decisions affecting species diversity must provide for ecological conditions that the responsible official determines provide a high likelihood that those conditions are capable of supporting over time the viability of native and desired non-native species well distributed throughout their ranges within the plan area, except as provided in paragraphs (b)(2)(ii)-(iv) of this section" (36 CFR 219.1920(b)(2)(i) (2000))

Alternative C, 1982 planning rule

Viable Populations Alternative C (1982 planning rule) states "Fish and wildlife habitat shall be managed to maintain viable populations of existing native and desired non-native vertebrate species... In order to insure that viable populations will be maintained, habitat must be provided to support, at least, a minimum number of reproductive individuals and that habitat must be well distributed so that those individuals can interact with others in the planning area" (36 CFR 219.19 (1982)). In addition, "forest planning shall provide for diversity of plant and animal communities and tree species consistent with the overall multiple-use objectives of the planning area (36 CFR 219.26 (1982)).

To provide for diversity of plant and animal communities the Agency designed Alternative A (proposed action), Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule), and Alternative B (2000 planning rule) based on the principles of conservation biology to supply a reasonable level of assurance of diversity using a coarse filter (ecosystem diversity) and fine filter (species diversity). With Alternatives A, B, D, and E the Agency acknowledges the limits of the Agency's scientific understanding and financial and technical capabilities. In addition, with Alternatives A, B, D, and E the Agency concedes that the management of plant and animal communities must be done recognizing uncertainty, imperfect and incomplete information, and systemic environmental variation.

Diversity Criteria and Alternatives A, D, and E

Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) establish a goal of providing ecological conditions for plant and animal communities, require a framework for sustaining these conditions in plans, and give the responsible official discretion to decide what plan components should be included in the plan for species. Alternatives A, D, and E require the planning directives for sustaining ecological systems to be consistent with the concepts of ecosystem diversity and species diversity. In addition, guidance is included in the Forest Service Directive System for providing self-sustaining populations of species-of-concern for Alternatives A, D, and E.

A self-sustaining population is one that is sufficiently abundant and has appropriate population characteristics to provide for its persistence over many generations. Species-of-concern are "species for which the responsible official determines that management actions might be necessary to prevent listing under the Endangered Species Act" (36 CFR 219.16). The Agency defines the specific analysis processes in FSM 1921.7 and FSH 1909.12 chapter 40.

The characteristics of ecosystem diversity described in the directives include parameters that describe an ecosystem; composition (major vegetation types, rare communities, aquatic systems, and riparian systems), structure (successional stages, water quality, wetlands, and floodplains), principal ecological processes (stream flows and historical and current disturbance regimes), and soil, water, and air resources (FSM 1905).

The planning directives provide the appropriate procedural considerations to sustain species diversity based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area. FSM 1921.76c says:

The following points describe appropriate considerations for plan components based on the portion of the range of a species-of-concern that overlaps a plan area. When a plan area encompasses:

- 1. The entire range of a species, the plan components should contribute appropriate ecological conditions for the species throughout that range.
- 2. One or more naturally disjunct populations of a species, the plan should contribute appropriate ecological conditions that contribute to supporting each population over time.
- 3. Only a part of a population, the plan should contribute appropriate ecological conditions to support that population" (FSM 1921.76c).

Diversity Criteria and Alternative B

Alternative B (2000 planning rule) procedures establish a diversity criterion of high likelihood of viability. The procedures provide considerations based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area. Alternative B says at 36 CFR 219.20 (b)(2):

"When a plan area occupies the entire range of a species, these decisions must provide for ecological conditions capable of supporting viability of the species and its component populations throughout that range. When a plan area encompasses one or more naturally disjunct and self-sustaining populations of a species, these decisions must provide ecological conditions capable of supporting over time viability of each population. When a plan area encompasses only a part of a population, these decisions must provide ecological conditions capable of supporting viability of that population well distributed throughout its range within the plan area.

- (ii) When conditions outside the authority of the agency prevent the agency from providing ecological conditions that provide a high likelihood of supporting over time the viability of native and desired non-native species well distributed throughout their ranges within the plan area, plan decisions must provide for ecological conditions well distributed throughout the species range within the plan area to contribute to viability of that species.
- (iii) Where species are inherently rare or not naturally well distributed in the plan area, plan decisions should not contribute to the extirpation

of the species from the plan area and must provide for ecological conditions to maintain these species considering their natural distribution and abundance.

(iv) Where environmental conditions needed to support a species have been so degraded that it is technically infeasible to restore ecological conditions that would provide a high likelihood of supporting viability, plan decisions must provide for ecological conditions to contribute to supporting over time viability to the degree practicable" (36 CFR 219.20(b)(2)(iv)).

In addition, Alternative B (2000 planning rule) would establish the most intensive analysis requirements of any of the alternatives. Alternative B analysis requirements for ecosystem diversity and species diversity are estimated to be very costly, and neither straightforward nor easy to carry out. (See Cost-Benefit Analysis – The Proposed Rule (36 CFR 219) for National Forest Land Management Planning, available online at http://www.fs.fed.us/emc/nfma/2007_pr_eis_references.html).

Diversity Criteria and Alternative C

Alternative C (1982 planning rule) procedures require viability. The words of Alternative C (1982 planning rule) "shall be managed to maintain" and the stringent "ensure" have been interpreted by some people to be a 100 percent certainty that all species must remain viable at all times. These 1982 planning rule procedures for viability are not based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area as required by the NFMA.

The 100 percent certainty interpretation by some people is a technical impossibility given that the cause of some species decline is outside the limits of the Agency. For example, viability of some species on National Forest System lands might not be achievable because of species-specific distribution patterns (such as a species on the extreme and fluctuating edge of its natural range), or when the reasons for species decline are due to factors outside the control of the Agency (such as habitat alteration in South America causing decline of some Neotropical birds), or when the land lacks the capability to support species (such as a drought affecting fish habitat).

Monitoring

As shown in the following table the alternatives vary in the discretion the responsible official has in designing the monitoring program for species diversity in collaboration with stakeholders. Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) allow the most discretion in designing a monitoring program for diversity or plant and animal communities. Alternative B (no-action, 2000 planning rule) requires the responsible official to develop a monitoring strategy to monitor ecological conditions (habitat) for focal species and species-at-risk, but allows the responsible official discretion in the monitoring of species population trends.

Alternative C (1982 planning rule) requires monitoring of population trends of MIS. This alternative has the least discretion regarding monitoring of population trends. When the 1982 planning rule was written, the Agency believed that MIS populations indicated the effects of management activities. The MIS concept has not been very useful as a framework for understanding the relationship of changes in wildlife habitat and population trends, because of the lack of ability to predict future trends. Two key articles refute the idea of MIS as an indicator of other species (Landres 1988; Niemi 1997). There

are other relevant papers for MIS (Broberg 1999; Caro and O'Doherty 1999; Caro and others 2005; Landres and others 1988; Lindenmayer and others 2000: Ozaki and others 2006).

Table 5 Monitoring and Species Diversity

Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 planning rule and modifications)

Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) require the plan monitoring program to take into account key social, economic, and ecological performance measures relevant to the plan area (36 CFR 219.6(b)(1)(ii)(2005)). Alternatives A, D, and E empower responsible officials to use their discretion to tailor monitoring to local needs and conditions.

In addition at 36 CFR 219.14 (2005) the alternatives A, D, and E allow existing plans developed under the 1982 planning rule to monitor the habitat of MIS instead of monitoring population trends of MIS unless the plans themselves require monitoring of population trends of MIS.

Alternative B (2000 planning rule)

Alternative B (2000 planning rule) requires monitoring to be used to evaluate focal species and species at risk (36 CFR 219.11(a)(1)(ii)(2000)) and requires monitoring of the effectiveness of monitoring (36 CFR 219.11(a)(1)(iii)(2000)). Alternative B requires monitoring of status and trends of ecological conditions (habitat) to support focal species and selected species-at-risk. Monitoring of species populations is optional.

Focal species: Focal species are surrogate measures used in the evaluation of ecological sustainability, including species and ecosystem diversity. The key characteristic of a focal species is that its status and trend provide insights to the integrity of the larger ecological system to which it belongs.

Species-at-risk: Federally listed endangered, threatened, candidate, and proposed species and other species for which loss of viability, including reduction in distribution or abundance, is a concern within the plan area. Other species-at-risk may include sensitive species and state listed species. A species-at-risk also may be selected as a focal species.

Alternative C (1982 planning rule)

Alternative C (1982 planning rule) requires that population trends of the management indicator species (MIS) will be monitored and relationships to habitat changes determined (36 CFR 219.19(a)(6)(1982)). Threatened and endangered species listed under ESA were sometimes are included as MIS species. The 1982 planning rule stated that MIS species shall be selected (36 CFR 219.19(a)(1) "because their population changes are believed to indicate the effects of management activities."

Adaptive management

Monitoring by itself cannot ensure species diversity. A monitoring program that is tied to the assessment of management objectives intended to contribute to species diversity will facilitate achievement of the objectives. Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 planning rule) strongly promote the use of adaptive management principles to support continuous improvement of management. Alternative B (2000 planning rule) also embraces adaptive management principles. Alternative C (1982 planning rule) does not explicitly encourage adaptive management, but adaptive management may be used. The MIS monitoring requirements in Alternative C are designed to determine the effects of management on species rather than the effectiveness

of management in providing species diversity. Alternative C presents a reactive approach where the other alternatives present a proactive approach in their guidance.

Timber Management Requirements of 16 U.S.C. 1604(g) Issue

The following section compares and contrasts how each of the alternatives address the requirements regarding timber harvesting from the NFMA. NFMA has four conditions related to timber harvest at 16 USC 1604 (g)(3)(E) and five conditions related to evenaged harvest at 16 USC 1604 (g)(3)(F).

National Forest Management Act Requirements

Related to timber management, NFMA requires the Secretary of Agriculture to "promulgate regulations ... that establish the process for the development and revision of the land management plans. ... The regulations shall include ...specifying guidelines for land management plans developed to achieve the goals of the Program which – "

- "(E) insure that timber harvesting will be harvested from National Forest System lands occur only where
 - i. soil, slope and other watershed conditions will not be irreversibly damaged;
 - ii. there is assurance that such lands can be adequately restocked within five years after harvest;
 - iii. protection is provided for stream, streambanks, shorelines, lakes, wetlands, and other bodies of water from detrimental changes in water temperatures, blockages of water courses, and deposits of sediment where harvests are likely to seriously and adversely affect water conditions or fish habitat; and
 - iv. the harvesting system to be used is not selected primarily to because it will give greatest dollar return or the greatest unit output of timber; and output and" (16 USC 1604 (g)(3)(E)).
- "(F) insure that clearcutting, seed tree cutting, shelterwood cutting, and other cuts designed to regenerate an even-aged stand of timber will be used as a cutting method on National Forest System lands where
 - i. for clearcutting, it is determined to be the optimal method, and for other such cuts it is determined to be appropriate, to meet the objectives and requirements of the relevant land management plan;
 - ii. the interdisciplinary review as determined by the Secretary has been completed and potential environmental, biological, esthetic, engineering, and economic impacts on each advertised sale area have been assessed, as well as the consistency of the sale with the multiple use of the area;
 - iii. cut blocks, patches, or strips are shaped and blended to the extent practicable with the natural terrain;
 - iv. there are established according to geographic areas, forest types, or other suitable classifications the maximum size limits for areas to be cut in one harvest operation, including provision to exceed the established limits after appropriate public notice and review by the responsible Forest Service offices one level above the Forest Service officer who normally would approve the harvest proposal: Provided, that such limits shall not apply to the size of areas harvested as a result

- of natural catastrophic conditions such as fire, insect and disease attack, or windstorm; and
- v. such cuts are carried out in a manner consistent with the protection of soil, watershed, fish, wildlife, recreation, and esthetic resources, and the regeneration of the timber resource" (16 USC 1604 (g)(3)(F)).

Guidance from the Forest Service Directive System

The Forest Service Manual (FSM) and the Forest Service Handbook (FSH) provide extensive guidance regarding the NFMA requirements outlined above. Guidance regarding irreversible damage to watershed conditions and assurance of restocking within five years is included in the FSH 1909.12, section 61 under Vegetation Management Requirements at the Project Level. Forest Service directive citations are from the most recent amendment.

Guidance about protection of riparian areas, water bodies, water quality, and fish habitat is included in the FSM 1920.12a and the FSH 1909.12, section 43.15(2)(g)). The requirement that a harvesting system used is not selected primarily to give greatest dollar return or timber output is included in FSM 1921.12(a)(4) as a project specific finding.

The requirements regarding use of even-aged regeneration harvests are all located in FSM 1921.12. Maximum size limits for even aged regeneration harvests have been established and can be found at FSM 1921.12e. Additional guidance to ensure clearcutting is optimal is provided in the FSH 1909.12, section 64.5.

The above referenced directives are available at http://www.fs.fed.us/im/directives.

Response to Issue

The method by which each alternative deals with the NFMA requirements quoted above is summarized in the following tables.

Table 6 Timber Harvest Only Where -

	Alt A & Alt D	Alt B	Alt C	Alt E
(i) Soil and watershed protected	Rule says must include in the directive system	Included in the rule	Included in the rule	Included in the rule
(ii) Lands restocked	Rule says must include in the directive system	Included in the rule	Included in the rule	Included in the rule

	Alt A & Alt D	Alt B	Alt C	<u>Alt E</u>
(iii) Riparian and fish protected	Rule says must include in the directive system	Not included in the rule	Included in the rule	Included in the rule
(iv) System not selected for dollars or output	Rule says must include in the directive system	Not included in the rule	Included in the rule	Included in the rule

Under alternatives A and D all NFMA requirements are included in the directive system.

Alternative B (No Action, 2000 rule) includes requirements regarding soil and watershed protection and restocking in 36 CFR part 219.28(2000). However, the rule ties this requirement to the requirement for identification of lands not suitable for timber harvest. The application of these provisions to an individual project is not clearly stated. Alternative B does not specifically mention riparian areas or water bodies in context related to timber harvesting. Water resources, riparian areas, and habitat are mentioned at \$219.20(2000) and \$219.36(2000) as important parts of ecosystem diversity and productive ecological systems. Additionally, Alternative B requires the responsible official to identify specific watersheds in need of protective or restoration measures (\$219.9(b)(6)(2000)).

Alternative C (1982 rule) calls for protection of streams, streambanks, shorelines, lakes, wetlands, and other bodies of water at 36 CFR section 219.27(a)(4)(1982) with specific respect to openings created by even-aged management, at §219.27(d), and to riparian areas at §219.27(e). Section 219.27(e) requires "special attention be given to land and vegetation for approximately 100 feet from the edges of all perennial streams, lakes, and other bodies of water", and "No management practices causing detrimental changes in water temperature or chemical composition, blockages of water courses, or deposits of sediment shall be permitted within these areas which seriously and adversely affect water conditions or fish habitat."

Table 7 Even-aged Methods are used only if -

	Alt A & Alt D	Alt B	Alt C	Alt E
(i) Clearcutting is optimal	Rule says must include in the directive system	Rule calls for standards to limit even- aged harvest	Not included in the rule	Included in the rule

	Alt A & Alt D	Alt B	Alt C	Alt E
(ii)Interdisciplinary review	Rule says must include in the directive system	Not included in the rule	Not included in the rule	Included in the rule
(iii) Cut blocks are shaped and blended	Rule says must include in the directive system	Included in the rule	Included in the rule	Included in the rule
(iv) Size limits	Rule says must include in the directive system	Included in the rule	Included in the rule	Included in the rule
(v) Protection of multiple resources	Rule says must include in the directive system	Obliquely included through provision for maintenance or restoration of ecosystems	Obliquely included through "management requirements" for all prescriptions	Included in the rule

Under alternatives A and D all NFMA requirements are included in the directive system.

Alternative B, at §219.7(c)(2000), requires that forest plans contain standards that include, "Limitations on even-aged timber harvest methods; Maximum size openings from timber harvest; Methods for achieving aesthetic objectives by blending the boundaries of vegetation treatments; and other requirements to achieve multiple-use of the national forests and grasslands."

Alternatives B and C do not explicitly state that clearcutting must be the optimal method, that even-aged cutting is reviewed by an interdisciplinary team, or that even-aged timber cutting must provide for protection of the resources listed in the NFMA requirement.

The actual maximum acre size limits for even-aged timber cutting by vegetation type are the same for all alternatives.

Identification of lands not suited for timber production 16 U.S.C. 1604(k) Issue

National Forest Management Act Requirements

The NFMA directs the Secretary to identify lands which are not suited for timber production, considering physical, economic and other pertinent factors. (16 USC 1604 (k))

Guidance from the Forest Service Directive System

The FSM 1921.12c requires that the responsible official identify lands not suited for timber production. The Forest Service Handbook (FSH, 1909.12, chapter 60) provides extensive detail about how to accomplish this requirement. The process is described in FSH 1909.12, section 62, under Identification of Lands Generally Not Suitable for Timber Harvest. The handbook combines elements of the previous issue (i.e. restocking and irreversible damage) and considers those issues at the forest scale. Those are combined with lands that have been withdrawn from timber harvest and lands where trees are unable to grow due to environmental conditions. The four considerations are combined to be "Lands generally not suited for timber harvest." The remaining lands are "generally suited for timber harvest". Lands generally suited for timber harvest consist of two types: (1) Lands where timber production is compatible with the achievement of desired conditions and objectives established by the plan, and (2) Other lands where harvest is necessary to achieve multiple-use objectives other than timber production.

Response to Issue

Alternatives A and D require at 36 CFR section 219.12(2005) that the responsible official identify lands as not suitable for timber production. The alternatives provide a framework for consideration of timber production. The Forest Service Directive system provides further detail to accomplish this requirement.

Alternative B, at §219.28(2000), requires that the plan identify lands where timber may not be harvested and provides a framework of what lands are included in that category. Alternative B describes identification of lands where timber may be harvested for timber production and lands where timber may be harvested for other multiple-use values.

Alternative C, at §219.14(1982), requires that lands not suited for timber production be identified during forest planning. The remaining lands are further reviewed and assessed before formulation of alternatives to determine the costs and benefits for a range of management intensities for timber production. Some of these lands might be categorized as "not appropriate for timber production" in various alternatives based on multiple use objectives, cost-benefit analysis, and various "management requirements" related to resource protection, vegetation manipulation, silvicultural practices, even-aged management, riparian areas, soil and water, and diversity, specified at §219.27(1982). Lands considered not suited for timber production and as not appropriate for timber production are collectively designated as "not suited for timber production".

Alternative E includes the same provisions for identification of lands not suited for timber production as Alternatives A and D do. The difference is that Alternatives A and D refer to FSM 1921.12c and FSH1909.12, section 60 guidance at §219.12.

Standards and Prohibitions Issue

National Forest Management Act Requirements

The NFMA requires "The Secretary shall begin to incorporate the standards and guidelines required by this section in plans for units of the National Forest System as soon as practicable after October 22, 1976, and shall attempt to complete such incorporation for all such units by no later than September 30, 1985" (16 U.S.C. 1604(c)). Additionally, the Act requires the Secretary to "promulgate regulations, under the principles of the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 [16 U.S.C. 528-531] that set out the process for the development and revision of the land management plans, and the guidelines and standards prescribed by this subsection in section 6(g) of the Act" (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)). In the NFMA, the terms "standards" and "guidelines" are both used, with no apparent distinction between them with respect to their force and effect.

Response to Issue

Based on the issues related to standards and guidelines that were raised during the scoping period, four approaches to the standards and guidelines are described and compared below. These include the guidelines employed in the 2005 planning rule (proposed action and Alternative D), standards and guidelines embodied in the 1982 planning rule (Alternative C), the mandatory/discretionary standards approach embodied in the 2000 rule (Alternative B), and a modified standards approach combined with the 2005 Planning Rule (Alternative E).

Alternatives A and D

Standards are not explicitly included in these alternatives. Alternatives A (proposed action) and D (2005 rule modified) feature the use of guidelines . Under these alternatives, the term "guideline" means information and guidance for the design of projects and activities. Guidelines are recommended technical and scientific specifications. Guidelines are designed to support or complement the achievement of the desired conditions. Under these alternatives, managers would have discretion when using guidelines. Managers would not have the discretion to ignore guidelines on a whim. A project or activity may be consistent with a guideline in one of two ways:

- 1. The project or activity is designed in accordance with the guideline, or
- 2. The project or activity design varies from the guideline but the design is an effective means of meeting the purpose of the guideline, which is to maintain or contribute to the attainment of relevant desired conditions and objectives.

The project documentation should either that the project or activity is designed in accordance with applicable guidelines or specifically explain that the project varies from a guideline, and how the variance is an effective means of meeting the purpose of the guideline.

Land management plan guidance may be supplemented at the project level using "other sources of information" or guidance as needed depending on the requirements of the project. Other guidance may be contained in documents, including but not limited to, Forest Service Manuals or Handbooks, scientific literature, and species recovery plans. Other guidance is brought to bear depending on site-specific circumstances for resource

protection at the project level. As with all alternatives, guidance becomes a binding Agency commitment when the decision document for a project is signed.

Under Alternatives A and D, land management plans are strategic and typically do not approve or prohibit projects or activities. The focus of environmental analysis is not at the plan level, but at the project level where the Forest Service knows the specific parameters of the action that is being proposed. This allows analysis (consistent with NEPA requirements) to be done at the appropriate scope and scale.

Guidelines as employed in these alternatives would:

- Be included in land management plans to provide information and guidance for projects and activities.
- Not repeat law, policy, or manual and handbook direction (FSH 1909.12, chapter 10).
- Provide managerial discretion to vary from land management plan guidelines. The rationale for variance must be documented in the environmental analysis and be available for public comment and objection.
- Allow the use of other information for resource protection that is specific to the requirements of the project

Alternative B

Alternative B (2000 rule) includes the use of 'standards' as described in the 2000 planning rule (65 FR 67513). Under this alternative, standards might be mandatory or discretionary depending on the wording of the standard. Mandatory standards include the use of the words "must or shall" and the standard must be used. However, a project could vary from a mandatory standard through a plan amendment. Discretionary standards use the word "should" and may or may not be used (with appropriate documentation) depending on the site-specific circumstances of individual projects. Standards as employed in these alternatives would:

- Include mandatory standards and standards with managerial discretion to vary from the standards. The rationale for variance from discretionary standards must be documented in the environmental analysis and be available for public review and comment. Managerial discretion to vary from mandatory standards is provided by site-specific plan amendments.
- Not repeat law, policy, or manual and handbook direction (FSH 1909.12, chapter 10).

Alternative C

Alternative C includes the use of standards and guidelines as described under the 1982 planning rule. In the 1982 planning rule and the first round of plans, the two terms were usually written together as "standards and guidelines." Some plan revisions have designed mandatory provisions as "standards" and general direction with latitude for implementation as "guidelines." Other plans do not make a distinction between standards and guidelines.

Many people are comfortable with the 1982 rule approach the Forest Service has used for land management planning. Line officer discretion may be allowed depending on how the land management plan describes the degree of compliance with standards and guidelines.

Many people feel that a conventional standards and guidelines package offers assurances for resource protection that other alternatives do not. Characteristics of the conventional approach include:

- Often including standards that repeat law, policy or guidance that is already described in Forest Service manuals or handbooks
- Often including procedural standards (stipulating analytical procedures or specialist involvement)
- Managerial discretion to vary from discretionary standards and guidelines
- Managerial discretion to change mandatory standards and guidelines by sitespecific plan amendments.

Alternative E:

Alternative E is essentially the same as Alternatives A and D except that standards are explicitly allowed. The use of 'other sources of information' would be employed to assure resource protection based on site specific analysis. Managers have the discretion to vary from plan guidelines the same as other alternatives (for 1982 rule plans it would depend upon plan wording). The rationale for variance must be discussed in the project or activity environmental analysis and is subject to public review and comment. The characteristics of this alternative are similar to those described for Alternatives A and D and include:

- Guidelines, which do not repeat law, policy, or manual and handbook direction (FSH 1909.12, chapter 10).
- Managerial discretion to vary from land management plan guidelines. The
 rationale for variance must be documented in the environmental analysis and
 be available for public comment and objection.
- The use of other information for resource protection that is specific to the requirements of the project.

Environmental Impact Statement Issue

National Forest Management Act Requirements

The NFMA requires planning regulations to specify procedures to insure that land management plans are prepared in accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act, including, but not limited to, direction on when and for what plans an environmental impact statement shall be prepared. (16 U.S.C. 1604(g)(1))

As this is a three-part issue, the alternatives are compared in terms of how each addresses alternatives, public participation, and cumulative effects analysis.

Response to the Alternatives Issue

Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)

Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 rule) stipulate that approval of a plan, plan revision, or plan amendment would be done in accordance with Agency NEPA procedures and may be categorically excluded from documentation in an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement. Agency NEPA procedures include a categorical exclusion for land management plans, plan amendments, and plan revisions developed in accordance with 36 CFR 219 et seq. that provide broad guidance and information for project and activity decision-making in a National Forest System unit. Proposals for actions that approve projects and activities, or that command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or that grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments, are outside the scope of the category and must be considered separately under Forest Service NEPA procedures. Since Alternative E explicitly allows standards that might include final decisions with prohibitions, the planning categorical exclusion would not be available for any plan component containing such standards. Since alternatives A and D do not explicitly prohibit standards, a plan could be developed or revised under these alternatives that included standards making final decisions with prohibitions. The planning categorical exclusion would likewise not be available for any plan component containing such standards.

Alternatives A, D, and E allow an iterative approach to development of a plan, plan amendment or plan revision. Iterative development occurs as various options for plan components are considered and discussed with interested members of the public. The options are modified through the collaborative process until a proposal is developed. The Forest Service then determines whether the planning categorical exclusion is available. If so, no NEPA alternatives are developed. If further NEPA analysis and documentation are required, appropriate alternatives would be developed. (§219.6(2005) and FSH 1909.12 sec.25.32b)

Alternatives B (2000 rule) and C (1982 rule)

Alternative B (no action) and Alternative C require an environmental impact statement for development or revision of a land management plan. However, an environmental assessment could be used to document the environmental analysis for a plan amendment under these alternatives. National Environmental Policy Act implementing regulations at 40 CFR 1500 *et seq* require consideration of alternatives in the analysis associated with either of these environmental documents. Alternative B (2000 rule) relies on Agency NEPA procedures for the formulation of alternatives. Alternative C explicitly requires formulation of alternatives for plan development, ranging from the minimum resource potential to the maximum resource potential on a unit. Furthermore, at least one alternative must incorporate the Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act Program, and one alternative must reflect the current level of goods and services provided by the unit. Alternative C relies on Agency NEPA procedures for developing alternatives for plan amendment.

Response to the Public Involvement Issue

While the alternatives range from requiring an environmental impact statement to allowing a categorical exclusion for plan development, revision, and amendment, public

involvement opportunities do not differ dramatically. Moreover, all alternatives provide public involvement opportunities equal to or greater than those required by Agency NEPA procedures and National Environmental Policy Act implementing regulations at 40 CFR 1500 *et seq* for preparation of an environmental impact statement.

Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)

The public involvement requirements for Alternatives A, D, and E are the same. The responsible official must provide opportunities for the public, Federal, State, and local agencies, and Tribal governments to collaborate and participate openly and meaningfully in the planning process. Specifically, as part of plan development, plan amendment, and plan revision, the responsible official must involve the public in developing and updating a comprehensive evaluation report, establishing the components of the plan, and designing the monitoring program, but has the discretion to determine the methods and timing of public involvement opportunities. Public notice must also be provided at initiation of plan development, revision, or amendment. Plan development, revisions and amendments are subject to a 90-day comment period and a 30-day objection period. Public notice must also be provided at the point of approval. (§219.9 (2005)) These public involvement requirements would apply even if land management plan components are categorically excluded from further analysis and documentation in an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement.

Alternative B (2000 rule)

This alternative requires the responsible official to "actively engage the American public, interested organizations, private landowners, state, local, and Tribal governments, federal agencies and others". The responsible official must also "provide early and frequent opportunities for people to participate openly and meaningfully in planning", but the "responsible official has the discretion to determine how to provide these opportunities in the planning process." The responsible official is required to: (1) provide early and frequent coordination with appropriate Federal agencies, State and local governments, American Indian Tribes and Alaska Natives; (2) provide early and frequent opportunities for participation from interested individuals, and organizations; and (3) seek to collaborate with those who have control or authority over adjacent lands. The responsible official may could request establishment of an advisory committee. (§219.12-18 (2000))

Plan revision requires public notice of the proposed revision and information compiled for the revision and at least 45 calendar days for public comment. Plan revision also requires preparation of an environmental impact statement, and a 90-day public comment period for the draft environmental impact statement. (§219.9 (2000))

Plan amendments may be documented according to Agency NEPA procedures, which do not prescribe any specific public involvement requirements beyond inviting the participation of affected Federal, State, and local agencies, affected Tribes, and other interested persons. (§219.8 (2000))

Alternative C (1982 rule)

This alternative uses the NEPA requirements for public involvement dictated by CEQ's Regulations for Implementing the Procedural Provisions of the National Environmental Policy Act (CEQ regulations) at 40 CFR 1500 *et seq* and Agency NEPA procedures. For

plan development, revision, or amendment this means inviting the participation of affected Federal, State, and local agencies, affected Tribes, and other interested persons. Additionally, plan development or revision would require preparation of an environmental impact statement, which includes publishing a notice of intent to prepare an environmental impact statement in the Federal Register and at least a 3-month public comment period for draft plans and draft environmental impact statements. This alternative requires the responsible line officer to coordinate with other Federal, State, local, and Tribal planning efforts. Additional public involvement is left to the discretion of the responsible line officer. (§219.6(1982))

Response to the Cumulative Effects Issue

Throughout 28 years of land management planning, the Agency has learned that tiering to the cumulative effects analysis in a plan environmental impact statement did not provide nearly as much useful information at the project or activity level as the Agency had expected. The effects analyses in plan environmental impact statements were often too general to meet analytical needs for projects and activities. The effects analysis conclusions did not remain current over the life of a plan. In addition, typically because of public input and litigation, the Forest Service found that additional analysis and documentation was still necessary for projects and activities. Meaningful cumulative effects analysis for a project could not be done until the project design and location were known.

Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)

Alternative A (proposed action) and Alternatives D and E (modifications of the 2005 rule) stipulate that approval of a plan, plan revision, or plan amendment would be done in accordance with Agency NEPA procedures. Agency NEPA procedures include a categorical exclusion for land management plans, plan amendments and plan revisions that provide broad guidance and information for project and activity decision-making in a National Forest System unit. Plans developed, revised or amended under Alternatives A, D, and E may be categorically excluded from documentation in an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement unless they include proposals for actions that approve projects and activities, or that command anyone to refrain from undertaking projects and activities, or that grant, withhold or modify contracts, permits or other formal legal instruments.

Agency NEPA procedures and CEQ regulations at 40 CFR 1500 *et seq* require consideration of cumulative effects in environmental assessments and environmental impact statements. Any plan components documented in an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement, would include an analysis of cumulative effects.

In promulgating the categorical exclusion for land management plan development, revision, or amendment, the Agency analyzed the potential for cumulative effects resulting from such administrative actions. The Agency determined that these administrative actions do not have cumulatively significant effects on the human environment. (71 FR 75481) Accordingly, no cumulative effects analysis would accompany a categorically excluded plan, plan revision, or plan amendment. Plan-level analysis would, however, evaluate existing conditions and broad trends at the geographic scale of the planning area. It should be noted that Agency NEPA procedures require scoping even for proposals that would appear to be categorically excluded. Scoping for

plan development, revision, or amendment would consider the potential for past, present, or reasonably foreseeable actions to contribute cumulatively to the effects of the proposal. While no cumulative effects analysis accompanies a categorical exclusion, these effects would actually be considered twice: once when the category was identified in Agency NEPA procedures and again when scoping occurs for a specific proposal.

There is further concern that cumulative effects would never be considered if a categorically excluded project is proposed under a categorically excluded plan. As previously noted, Agency NEPA procedures still require scoping for proposals that would appear to be categorically excluded. Scoping for a proposed project would consider the potential for past, present, or reasonably foreseeable actions to contribute cumulatively to the effects of the proposal. While no cumulative effects analysis accompanies a project categorical exclusion, these effects are also considered twice: once when the category was identified in Agency NEPA procedures and again when scoping occurs for a specific project proposal.

Alternatives B (2000 rule) and C (1982 rule)

Alternative B (no action) and Alternative C require an environmental impact statement for development or revision of a land management plan. However, an environmental assessment may be used to document the environmental analysis for a plan amendment under these alternatives. Agency NEPA procedures and CEQ regulations at 40 CFR 1500 *et seq* require consideration of cumulative effects for analyses associated with environmental assessments or environmental impact statements. Accordingly, plan development, revision, or amendment, documented in an environmental assessment or environmental impact statement would include an analysis of cumulative effects.

Best Available Science and Land Management Plans Issue

National Forest Management Act Requirements

Under NFMA, the responsible official "shall use a systematic, interdisciplinary approach to achieve integrated consideration of physical, biological, economic, and other sciences." (16 USC 1604(b)) All alternatives address this requirement to consider science through different means.

Response to Issue

Alternatives A, D, and E (2005 rule and modifications)

These alternatives strengthen the role of science in planning. In support of strategic and adaptive plans, the ability of the Forest Service to react swiftly and efficiently to new science is an essential planning principle. The alternatives clarify that science, while only one aspect of decision-making, is a significant source of information for the responsible official to evaluate. When making planning decisions, the responsible official also considers public input, competing use demands, budget projections, and many other factors as well as science.

In describing the overall role of science in planning, the alternatives require that the responsible official must *take into account* the best available science (36 CFR 219.11(a)(2005)). The alternatives also specifically require that a plan's monitoring program take into account the best available science. The alternatives clarify that taking into account the best available science clearly lies with the responsible official, not the

plan itself. In Alternatives A, D, and E, "Taking into account the best available science" means:

- 1. Documenting how science was considered in the planning process,
- 2. Evaluating and disclosing substantial uncertainties in that science,
- 3. Evaluating and disclosing substantial risks associated with plan components based on that science, and
- 4. Documenting that the science was appropriately interpreted and applied. (§219.11(a)(1-4)(2005))

To evaluate the consideration of science in the planning process, the alternatives allow the Responsible Official to use independent peer review, a science advisory board, and other review methods (§219.11(b)(2005)).

Alternative B – No Action (2000 rule)

Alternative B strives to clarify the role of science in land management planning and integrate science more effectively for science-based decision-making in the planning, evaluation, and management of National Forests and Grasslands. The emphasis on independent scientific reviews of plans helps the Forest Service accomplish its stated sustainability goal. Yet, Alternative B is clear that science provides information, not decisions. The responsible official has final decision authority and discretion to accomplish how to consider the best available science.

In describing the overall role of science in planning, Alternative B requires the responsible official to *consider* the best available science (36 CFR 219.22(a)(2000)). This gives the Forest Service and people involved in the planning process sound information to make recommendations about resource conditions and desired outcomes. In addition to considering the best available science, the responsible official must also ensure that plan amendments and revisions are *consistent* with best available science (§219.24(a)(2000)). To accomplish this consistency review, the responsible official may use science advisory boards to improve access to current scientific information and analysis as well as evaluate whether information gathered, evaluations conducted, or analyses and conclusions reached in the planning process are consistent with the best available science. The science advisory board is responsible for organizing and conducting a scientific consistency evaluation to determine the following:

- 1. If relevant scientific information has been considered by the responsible official in a manner consistent with current scientific understanding at the appropriate scales:
- 2. If uncertainty of knowledge has been recognized, acknowledged, and adequately documented;
- 3. If the level of risk in achievement of sustainability is acknowledged and adequately documented by the responsible official (§219.24(b)(2000)).

Finally, during the transition period, Alternative B requires that the responsible official *consider* the best available science in implementing and amending the current plans (§219.35(2000)).

Alternative C (1982 rule)

This alternative specifically addresses science consideration under the topic of "research" (36 CFR 219.28(1982)). Research needs are identified during planning and periodically reviewed during evaluation of implemented plans, particularly during monitoring and evaluation. Research needed to support or improve management of the National Forest System is to be established and budgeted at the research station and national levels. Significant findings, and how this information is applied, are disclosed through an annual report.

Alternative C also references the use of science in several provisions associated with the planning process. Planning teams "shall integrate knowledge of the physical, biological, economic and social sciences, and the environmental design arts in the planning process." (§219.5(a)(1982)) In addition, "[t]he team is encouraged to consult other persons when required specialized knowledge does not exist within the team itself." (§219.5(b)(1982)) In regards to data, "[t]he Supervisor will assure that the interdisciplinary team has access to the best available data." (§219.12(d)(1982))

Finally, Alternative C specifies the consideration of science for some resource-related topics. For vegetation management practices (§219.15(1982)), thorough reviews of technical and scientific literature and practical experience are used to evaluate specific vegetation and site conditions where more than one vegetation management practice will be used in a vegetation type. For the fish and wildlife resource (§219.19(1982)), the interdisciplinary team shall estimate the effects of changes in vegetation type, timber age classes, community composition, rotation age, and year-long suitability of habitat related to mobility of management indicator species (MIS) on the basis of available scientific information.

Management Requirements Issue

National Forest Management Act Requirements

The NFMA requires that planning regulations specify guidelines, which provide for diversity and specific requirements for timber management. These requirements have been discussed under the issues related to diversity and timber management requirements. The Act does not however, require that planning regulations address minimum specific management requirements as found in the 1982 planning rule (Alternative C).

Response to Issue

It is important to note that natural resource protection is typically embodied in layers. The first layer includes the relevant statutes. There is no discretion in the law; the requirements are mandatory and must be followed. Most natural resource related laws are very specific in their requirements for the protection of resources. The Endangered Species Act, for example, is very specific in its requirements for the species protected by the Act. Others, like the National Environmental Policy Act, might prescribe procedures for decisionmaking. The next layer is regulations. Rules can establish procedures to guide actions, such as the proposed and alternative planning rules, that set up procedures for plan development, plan amendment, and plan revision. They can also be prescriptive and establish standards. The next layer is Agency policy, which includes procedural guidance and guidance for resource protection such as best management practices. The next layer is land management plans that describe goals, objectives, and guidance for future

decisionmaking. The final layer is decisions approving or prohibiting projects or activities that have environmental effects that can be meaningfully evaluated. Such decisions apply appropriate law, regulation, and policy for environmental protections to site-specific circumstances.

There is a web of laws that responsible officials must consider when proposing projects and activities including, but not limited to: the Clean Air Act of 1955 as amended (CAA, 42 U.S.C. 7401 et. seq.) the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act of 1960 (16 U.S.C. 528 et seq.); the Wilderness Act (16 U.S.C. 1121 et. seq.); the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA, 42 U.S.C. 4321 et seq.); the Endangered Species Act of 1973, as amended (ESA, 16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.); the Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resource Act of 1974 (16 U.S.C. 1600 et seq.), as amended by the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA), and the Clean Water Act of 1948 (CWA), as amended by the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1977 and the Water Quality Act of 1987 and other laws (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq., 1323 et seq.) This array of laws applies to all of the proposed planning rule alternatives.

Federal Agencies have adopted regulations to carry out many of these laws. Forest Service regulations are found at 36 CFR 200-299.

In addition to these laws and regulations, Agency policy is specified in the Forest Service Directive System. Forest Service directives are the primary basis for the Forest Service's internal management of all its programs and the primary source of administrative direction to Forest Service employees. The Forest Service Manual (FSM) contains legal authorities, objectives, policies, responsibilities, instructions, and guidance needed on a continuing basis by Forest Service line officers and primary staff to plan and execute programs and activities. While the alternatives vary in their distribution of guidance within the rule and Directives System, responsible officials are bound to follow the sum of all guidance. Responsible officials must ensure that all project and activity proposals are consistent with law, regulation, Agency policy, and the appropriate land management plan.

The position and significance of a planning rule relative to the layers of law, regulation, and policy for environmental protection is minor. Law, regulation, and policy combine to narrow a responsible official's discretion in proposing actions to those that do not impair productivity of the land, do not impair water or air quality, and do not threaten the existence of plant and animal species.

Alternative C (1982 rule)

Alternative C (1982 rule) includes a variety of guidance at §219.27. That guidance falls under seven different headings: (a) Resource protection; (b) Vegetative manipulation; (c) Silvicultural practices; (d) Even-aged management; (e) Riparian Areas; (f) Soil and Water and; (g) Diversity. Most of the provisions under vegetative manipulation, silvicultural practices, even-aged management, and diversity have already been discussed in this document in response to other issues. The remaining provisions, in the 1982 rule section, regard conservation of soil and water, management of disturbance and pests, protection of riparian areas, interdisciplinary assessment, threatened and endangered species habitat, transportation and utility corridors, road construction and rehabilitation, and air quality. This section of the 1982 rule generally reiterates requirements of laws, regulations, and Agency directives.

Alternatives A, B, D, and E

Recognizing that planning must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies, the rest of the alternatives (A, B, D, and E) do not contain minimum specific management requirements as a category section. Provisions related to vegetation management, timber practices, and diversity are discussed elsewhere in this document under other issues.

When considered in conjunction with applicable laws, regulations, and Forest Service directives, all alternatives would result in similar resource protection.

CHAPTER 4. CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

Preparers and Contributors

The Forest Service consulted the following individuals, Federal, State, and local agencies, tribes and non-Forest Service persons during the development of this environmental impact statement:

ID TEAM MEMBERS:

Kevin Lawrence – Team Leader – Land Management Planning Specialist

Regis Terney – Land Management Planning Specialist

Dave Sire – National Environmental Policy Act Specialist

Tony Erba – Land Management Planning Specialist

Ron Pugh – Land Management Planning Specialist

Frank Fay – Land Management Planning Specialist

Tracy Calizon - Litigation Specialist

Jessica Call – Land Management Planning Specialist

OTHERS:

The interdisciplinary team consulted with the following individuals who contributed to the development of this environmental impact statement. Individuals are Forest Service unless otherwise noted.

Wayne Owen – National Conservation Planning Biologist, US Forest Service

Chris Iverson – Assistant Director for Wildlife, Fish, and Rare Plants, US Forest Service

Tom Millet – Assistant General Counsel, Natural Resources Division, OGC, USDA

Jan Poling – Associate General Counsel for Natural Resources, OGC, USDA

Madelyn Dillon – Supervisory Technical Editor, US Forest Service

Fred Norbury – Associate Deputy Chief, National Forest System, US Forest Service

Bruce Meneghin – Land Management Planning Analyst

Bob Lee – Land Management Planning Specialist

Sarah Hall – Computer Specialist

Distribution of the Environmental Impact Statement

This environmental impact statement has been distributed to individuals who specifically requested a copy of the document. In addition, copies have been sent to the following Federal agencies, federally recognized tribes, State and local governments, and

organizations representing a wide range of views regarding National Forest System land management planning.

Agencies

Advisory Council on Historic Preservation

USDA APHIS

Natural Resources Conservation Service USDA, National Agricultural Library NOAA Office of Policy and Strategic Planning

Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense

U.S. Air Force

Army Corps of Engineers

Susquehanna River Basins Commission US Environmental Protection Agency U.S. Department of the Interior

Northwest Power Planning Council Ohio River Basins Commission

U.S. Coast Guard

Federal Aviation Administration U.S. Department of Energy

Virginia Dept. of Environmental Quality New Mexico Dept of Game & Fish Wyoming Game & Fish Dept

Organizations & Businesses

Allegheny Defense Project LP Corporation

Allegheny Hardwood Utilization Group

American Forest & Paper Association

American Forest Resource Council

Appalachian Trail Conservancy

Montana Logging Association

Montana Wood Products Association

National Outdoor Leadership School

North Carolina Forestry Association

Associated Logging Contractors, Inc North Carolina Wildlife Resources Commission

Associated Oregon Loggers, Inc NPL News
Black Hills Forest Resources Association Oregon Wild

Center for Biological Diversity Sierra Pacific Industries

Colorado Wild Southern Appalachian Forest Coalition
Conservation North West Southern Appalachian Multiple-Use Council

Council of Western State Foresters Southern Environmental Law Center

Defenders of Wildlife

Forest Resources Association, Inc Forest Watch Friends of the Clearwater

Gilkey Lumber Co., Inc.
Greater Yellowstone Coalition

Houston Regional Group of the Sierra Club

Idaho Conservation League

Idaho State Snowmobile Association Intermountain Forest Association The Nature Conservancy
The Wilderness Society
Timber Products Company
US Department of Agriculture

Utah Environmental Congress Vermont Natural Resources Council

Virginia Forest Watch

Wildlaw

WildWest Institute

Individuals

A Muray Andrew J Blair Barbara Mason
Aaron Bannon Andrew Kiemnec Barbara Rathmann
Adam Kapp Angela VanCleve Barbara Warner
Adam Karrera Ann Kirkpatrick Barry Hatfield
Adele Kushner Ann Littlewood Bartt Emerson

Adrienne Hohenberg Ann Murrell Becky & Greg Zahradnik

Alan Holzman Anne Malone Beth Cohen Alan Rogers Anne Stackpole **Betsey Lewis** Albert Honican Arran Thomson Betsey Norton Alexander H. Delaney Arran Thomson Bill Bold Alice Elshoff Autumn S Woods Bill Imbergamo Alicia Jabin Avona L'Carttier Bill Mordan Amy Harlib Barbara Burke Blane Keller Andrea Robinsong Barbara Busse Blythe Reis Andrew Doll Barbara Manildi Bob Allen

Boyle, Sean Craig Schellsmidt Don Jacobson Crawford MacCallum **Bradley Taft** Donald Wood Bradlev West Cvnthia Ignatovich Donna Heidinger DS Evans Brandi Whetstone Donna Logan Brendan Kane Dan Sherwood Dorothea Dorenz Brent Bonwell Dan Tanguay Dorothea Hover-Kramer Dan Vierck Dorothy Anacleto Brent Bull

Brent Jensen **Daniel Cummins** Dorothy Swearingen Brent Sandmeyer Daniel Rhiger Doug Heiken Doug Owen **Brian Schick** Daniel Rusthoi Brian Schumacher Daniel Yetter Douglas Green **Brian Smith** Danielle Katz Dr Steve Dokubo Brian Wagner Danielle Petrey Dwight Long **Brock Roberts Danielle Roberts** Dyan Oldenburg Brooks Murrell Darlene Orterry Earl Willey Bruce Donnell Darlene Rosmarino Ed McDade Bruce Haynes David Carr Ed Tergeson

Bruce Haynes

Bruce Haynes

Bruce Haynes

Bruce Haynes

Bruce Haynes

David Ehrensperger

Edward Mitchell

Bryan Todd

David Harrison

Elieen Cooper

Budd Berkman

David Harrison

Elaine Sanchez

C Allen

David Hipply

Elainel Lane

C Ortiz

David Jaffe

Elisa Lucero

Caitlyn Peel David McDonald Elizabeth Brombach Camille Olivier-Salmon David Mildrexler Elizabeth Forsburg Carl Fagerskog David Noell Elizabeth Groves Carla Hervert **David Peltier** Elizabeth Ortlieb Carol J. Agnost David Richmond Elizabeth Painter Carol Norton David S. Jacobs Elizabeth Tilbury Carole Warner David Salman Elizabeth Wilson Carroll Munz David Schneider, O.D. Ellen Kurtz Cathy Crandall David Stowe Ellen Singer

Cathy CrandallDavid StoweEllen SingerCathy OlsonDavid StricklandElliot AroninChance FineganDavid TowleEmil GrazianiCharissa NewellDawn KroppEric BensonCharlene kozloffDeborah FilipelliEric BindseilCharles PhillipsDeborah HunterErica Rhoad

Charles Stup Dee Tvedt Erich Decker-Hoppen

Charlotte CampbellDeForest MellonErik JohnsonCharlotte SahnowDennis DavieErna GilbertsonCheri RyanDennis FisherEstelle VoellerCheryl GrothDenny KasunicEusebius Ballentine

Cheyne Cumming

Cheyne Cumming

Cheyne Cumming

Chip Conway

Chris Johnson

Chris Keck

Chris West

Chris West

Chris West

Chris Falcher

Ch

Christian Fulghum Diana Partin Gabrielle Swanberg Gail Battaglia Christianne Hinks Diana Rempe Christine Blunt Diane Arney Gary Guttormsen Christopher Conrad Diane Clark Gary Lantz Gary Macfarlane Cindi Barrett Diane Faircloth Claudia Knudson Diane Heath Gayla Barrows Cliff Wallis Dianne Ensign Geoffrey Giller

Cliff WallisDianne EnsignGeoffrey GillerClifford FountainDick ArtleyGeorge Y. BramwellColleen StewartDick CarterGerald RichardsonConstance FrenzenDietrich AyalaGerilyn Gess HealeyCraig RhodesDon & Jan VenableGianna Phelps

Karen Thomas

Karin Edwards

Kari Olsen

Gina Hafner Jeffrey Gray Ginny and Bob Freeman Jeffrey Laing Ginny Jackson Jennifer Freymond Gisela Ray Jennifer Lance Glenda Phillips Jennifer Larson Gloria & Bob Ziller Jennifer Lyman Gloria Wiemann Jennifer McQueen Gordon Baker Jenny McIvor Gordon Feighner Jeremiah Kidd Gordon Schochet Jerry and Janice Saxton Grace Malouf Jerry Jensen Gracie Winters Jerry Meadows Jerry Shultz Greg Conaway Greg Huston Jess Gwinn Greg Lief Jessica Martin Greg McGuire Jim Geisinger Greg Norman Jim Kidd Gregory Williamson Jim Newcomer Gunn Honican Jim Trenholm Hank Mirsky Jo Kusi Harmony Thayer Joanna Volkoff Harriet Miller Joanne Cockerill Harris Dubin Joanne Ferguson Heath Heikkila Joanne Wasbauer Heidi Hartman Joel Thorson Heidi Weiss John Carroll Helen Chesbrough John Davis Helen Lyman John Falvey Henry Boyle John Long Ian Cameron John Provost Ian Shelley John Scharbach Iztok Marjanovic John Schlosser Jacob Groves John Waters Jacqueline Smith Jon Spar James Moore Jr. Jonah Shapiro James Ewert Jonathan Levann James Marquard Jonathan Ratner James Miller Jordan Epstein James Minervini Joseph Auth James Stewart Joshua Krogstad James Stout Joy Brandt James Thompson Judi Tergeson James Woods Judith K. Litt Jan Moore Judith Osborn Jan Venable Judith Williams Janene Willey Judy Henderson Janet Boerboom Julia Felker Janice Reid Julie Muller Janice Rising Julie Rusch Jasmine Smith June Forsyth Kenagy

Karin Volkoff Karl Knobler Karl Lusebrink Kate O'Shea Kathleen MacKay Kathleen Scott Kathleen Warner Kathryn Mazaika Kathy Shaffer Kay Carlson Kay Wuthier Kayla Farnan Kelly Gallagher Kelly Riley Ken Weeks Ken Wilde Kent Williamson Kim Odea Kimberly Tanner Kirsten Stade Kristin Garley **Kvle Haines** L Joan Stevens Lainie Levick Laieanne Kline Lance Wyss Larry Bulling Larry Maechler Larry Maples Larry McCowan Larry Strickland Laura Cardillo Lauren Miller Lawrence Charles Lawrence Toush Lee Basnar Lee Dayfield Lee Howe Lee Musgrave Lee Patton Leigh Haynie Leigh Mckeirnan Leon Logan Leslie Lowe Liisa Wale Lin Moore Linda Mertz Linda Scotti Linda Swanson-Davies

Lisa Shiffrin

Jay NeutzlerK MaddoxJeanne HendersonKahler MartinJeff BarileKaren AusfahJeff CarrollKaren LamsonJeff WaltonKaren Milstein

Justine Avera

Justine Krulas

Jason Mann

Jason Uttley

Lori Painter Michael Williams Robert Hochwalt Lorna Smith Michelle Hoff Robert Hoover Louise Bhavnani Michelle Rohr Robert Lavbourn Lydia Garvey Milton Nelson Robert M Heineman Lyman Worthington Miriam Blatt Robert Myers Robert O'Donnell Lynn Marcus Monika Hinse Lynne Brannan Monte Seehorn Robert Phetteplace Madeline Kapp Monty Larson Robert Ragon Mailie La Zarr Mr & Mrs Jonathan Levy Robert Rhoad Maja Silberberg Murlin Goeken Robert Schultz Malcolm R. Dick Jr Nancy Gregory Robert Strebeck Marcia Denison Nancy Herzberg Robin Nelson Nancy O'Halloran Marcy Sowa Roger Kofler Margaret Pratt Nancy Wolff Roger Peirce Margaret Stephens Nara Brombach Roger Sutherland Maria Matuson Nate Root Ron Smith Maria Phillips Ned Jerabek Ron Torretta Marian Cooley Neil Seigel Ronald Parry Marian Larson Nick Nelson Ronald R Reading Marianne Edain Nick Partin Rosemary DeSena Marina A Elms Nicole Desproges Ross Mickey

RPF Jason S. Poburko Marjorie Reynolds Niels Godfredsen Mark Bosetti Norton Kalishman Rrandy Sailer O. William Bruins Ruth Baranowski Mark Burwinkel Mark D. Langan Olava Garicia Rvan Hadlev Mark Egger Oshana Catranides Ryan Little Sam Hitt Mark Perin Pam Hickman

Markus Opel Patricia Bruck Samantha Gunning Marshall Magruder Patricia Thompson Samuel Harrison Mary Addams Patrick Fadden Sandra Edwards Mary Ann Leitch Patrick Falvey Sandra Joos Mary Burrell Patrick O'Herron Sandra Mara Staklis Mary Conroy Paul Chenoweth Sandra Zimmer Mary Davis Paul Davis Sara Duhl

Mary Davis Paul Davis Sara Duni
Mary Dean Paul Moss Sara Dykes
Mary Quraishi Paul Vose Sara Schultz

Mary Ray Petra Hagen Sarah Alexander Nunn

Mary Wall Philip Lewin Sarah Hafer Marvann Schulz Philip Simon Sarah Herzog Matthew Caldwell Pinky Jain Pan Sarah McLean Matthew Dedes Rael Nidess, M.D. Scott Shambaugh Maureen Hicks Randy Pearson Sean Lallouz Maurice Horn Ray Munholland Sean Peterson Maya Holzman Rebecca Cameron Serge Vrabec Megan Gibb Rena Lawrence Shana Hildebrand Melba Ridgway Rex Storm Shara Alexander Melissa DeCook Richard Ellenberg Sharon Richards Weiser

Melissa MacRae Richard Schramm Sidney Smith
Melodee Mickey Richard Shelton Skye Coe

Michael Cooper Richard Spas Sondra Becchetti Michael Klem **Richard Spotts** Stacey Partin Michael Lang Rick Burns Stan Schmokel Michael Leeson Rick Provencio Stanley Brown Michael Letendre Rita Guidi Stanley Hall Michael Nacrelli Robert E. Godes Stanley Rogers Michael Pate Robert Fener Stanley Vejtasa Michael W Evans Stephanie Smith Robert Hays

Henry Peters

Jack Whitney

James Boulden

James Roberts

Jeff Boyce

Jerry Shultz

Jess Alford

Jerry Wagner Jerry Williams

Joanne Cockerill

John Calandrelli

John E Scola

John Long

John Sully

John Witte

Joseph Auth

Joseph Holmes

Joseph Vincent

Kathryn Mazaika

Stephanie Villasenor Tyler McFadden Frances Lamberts Stephanie Weigel Valerie White Gareth Loy Stephen Kingsford-Smith Victoria Koch Gene Frick

Virgil Frazier George & Frances Alderson

Stephen Stone Steve Aydelott Vonda Welty Steve Courtney Wade Graham Steve Dokubo Wade Stoddard Steve Lanusse-Siegel Walter Kortge Steve Waxman Wayne B. Peters Steve Wiard Wendell Wood Steven Amick Wendy Denny **Stuart Phillips** Wendy Holzman Will Hamilton Stuart Sampson Sue Grace William Boismier William Dwyer Sue Kelso Susan Applegate William Erickson Susan Delles William Erlenbach Susan Drew William McMullin Susan Kuhn William Olson Susan Menanno Wilma Wheeler Susan Morgan Windy Dankoff Yvette Martinez Susan Peirce Susan Rambo Adam Cramer Susan Schroeder Amanda Dorell Susanna de Falla

Kathryn Wilson Andrea & James Gutman Kelly Gravuer Susanna DeFazio Andrew Blair Kelly Riley Kelsey Ramage Suzanne Artemieff Andrew Schelling

Sven Lovegren Anna Morrison L Gray Sydney Walter Arnold Buchman Laura Lindley Sylvia Simon Arran Thomson Lawrence Charles T. K. Rose Arran Thomson Linda Macy Tamara Sheets Barbara Versluis Lynn Thompson Teresa Hammond Becky Johnstone M Robert Cooper MD Terrance Kloeckl Benjamin Bain Mailie La Zarr

Terri Pyne Marc Delany Beth Richman Terrie C. Williams Beverley Spears Mark Belles Thomas A Ziv Bill Vana Marlena Lange Bob & Tallie Bush Thomas Conroy Mary Markus Thomas Egan Bonnie Sonder Mary Ray Thomas Keys Bruce Foster Matthue Deyarus

Thomas Linell Caroline & David Tapia Melinda Rivasplata Thomas Lofton Carolyn Queener Melody Sclippa Thomas Patterson Cheryl Spencer Michael Fawns Thomas V. Connor Christopher Conrad Michael Kunkel Thomas Walz Dakota Otto Mike Gundlach Tiffany Robinson Dan & Elsie Silkiss Murlin Goeken Tim Lengerich Dan & Kelly Tanguay Neil Seigel Tim McDougall Danielle Katz Owen Wozniak Timothy Wernette David Lien Peg Reagan Tobey Layne Deanna Sterett Pepper Trail

Todd Enders Peter & Mary Alice Belov Delores Porch

Philip Kreitner **Todd Gross** Doug Deaton Tom and Marianne Nelson Dr Vincent & Mary Palermo Pilar Pederson Tom Kane Elaine Sanchez Reginald Stolley Tom Peil Eric Polczynski Richard Artley Tom Wootten Ernest & Tara Power Richard Spotts

Trais Kliphuis Ernest Reed Rick Flory Robert Allbright
Robert Jeckell
Sherry Redd
Robert Mathes
Steen Jensen
Robert Mertz
Steven Moore
Robin Delany-Shabazz
Ross Shelldon
Ryan Moore
S Gregory Price
S arah Alexander Nunn
Steven Moore
Steven Jensen
Steven Moore
Steven Moore
Totev Layne
Tom Dickinson

Tracy Ouellette MD Tyler Kokjohn William & Nancy Dutcher

INDEX

Α

advisory committee, 66 advisory group, 9 APA Administrative Procedure Act, ii, 4 appeal administrative appeal process, 3

В

benchmarks, 3, 29, 45
Best Management Practices
BMPs, 7
botanical areas, 47
broad-scale assessments, 6
business model analysis, 3, 5, 6

C

capability, ii, 4, 5, 24, 28, 29, 35, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55 categorical exclusion, ii, v, 8, 17, 36, 41, 65, 67, 68 categorically exclude, 10 categorically excluded, 65, 66, 67, 68 cause-effect, 40 Citizens for Better Forestry, ii, 3, 4, 5, 8, 39 Clean Air Act, 71 Clean Water Act, 7, 71 Clearcutting, 57 coarse filter, 5, 53 collaboration, 3, 6, 32, 37, 55 Committee of Scientists, 2 court order, ii Critique of Land Management Planning, 2 culmination of mean annual increment, 17, 19, 20 cumulative effects, iii, 10, 25, 38, 64, 67, 68

D

desired conditions, 6, 18, 20, 25, 44, 45, 46, 48, 50, 61, 62 direct effect, v, 40, 41, 42, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48 Directive System, 24, 53, 58, 61, 71 diversity, iii, 6, 9, 15, 23, 24, 28, 35, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 59, 61, 71

Ε

ecosystem diversity, 52, 53
EMS
environmental management system, i, v, 15, 17, 28, 32, 38
Endangered Species Act, ii, 4, 54, 70, 71
enjoined, ii
enjoin, 4

environmental assessment, v, 17, 36, 39, 41, 65, 66, 67, 68
environmental impact statement, i, ii, iii, iv, v, 1, 9, 10, 17, 25, 36, 39, 40, 41, 42, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 73 evaluation reports, 15, 18, 26 even-aged, 17, 19, 24, 46, 58, 60, 61, 71 Experimental Forests, 47 extraordinary circumstances, iv, 12, 39

F

Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 71 fine filter, 53 Forest and Rangeland Renewable Resources Planning Act, ii, 1, 39, 40, 46, 48, 50 Forest Service Handbook, 58, 61 Forest Service Manual, 58, 71

G

geological areas, 47 goals, 6, 44, 48, 51, 57, 70 guidelines guideline, iii, 6, 10, 25, 28, 40, 41, 44, 45, 46, 50, 51, 55, 57, 62, 63, 64

Н

historical areas, 47, 54

ı

indirect effects, 48, 49 interim rule, 4 interpretive rule, 4 irretrievable, v, 42, 50 irreversible, v, 18, 42, 50, 58, 61 iterative approach, 25, 65

L

lands not suited for timber production, iii, 10, 17, 18, 25, 61 long-term productivity, 48, 49 long-term sustained-yield capacity, 17, 20

M

MIS

management indicator species, iii, 9, 24, 32, 35, 55, 56, 70
monitoring, iv, 3, 5, 6, 13, 16, 18, 24, 26, 28, 31, 32, 35, 37, 43, 44, 48, 50, 52, 55, 56, 66, 68, 70
Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act, ii, iv, 2, 7, 12, 20, 39, 48, 50, 71

Ν

National Forest System, 1, ii, iv, v, 1, 3, 5, 12, 13, 16, 20, 23, 39, 40, 42, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 55, 62, 65, 67, 70, 73, 74

National Scenic Byways, 47

NFMA

National Forest Management Act, ii, iii, v, 1, 3, 5, 10, 17, 18, 19, 24, 25, 26, 39, 40, 46, 48, 50, 51, 55, 57, 58, 61, 62, 64, 68, 71

NFMA Planning Rule Review, 3, 5

No Action, iv, 12, 13, 24, 25, 28, 35, 42, 59, 69

notice of intent

NOI, ii, 8, 67

Notice of Intent, ii

0

objection

pre-decisional objection process, 3, 63, 64, 66 objectives, iii, 6, 9, 12, 17, 18, 19, 20, 24, 25, 35, 44, 45, 46, 48, 50, 51, 52, 53, 56, 60, 61, 70, 71 *Ohio Forestry Ass'n*, 40 options, 12, 25, 37, 65

P

paleonotological areas, 47
peer reviews, 6, 26
plan component, v, 17, 65
plan document, 15, 18
preferred alternative, i, iv, 12
prohibitions, 17, 18, 36, 65
Proposed Action, iv, v, 1, 8, 12, 15, 17, 35, 42
public involvement, ii, iii, 10, 16, 18, 25, 32, 37, 66
Public participation, 6
purpose and need, 1, 8, 27

R

recreational areas, 47 research, 5, 19, 47, 70 Research Natural Areas, 47

S

science, ii, iii, iv, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 12, 13, 23, 26, 29, 31, 32, 34, 68, 69, 70

science advisory boards, 5, 6, 29, 31, 69 scientists, 3, 5, 6, 10, 31 scoping, 1, 8, 9, 38, 67, 68 self-sustaining populations, 28, 52, 53, 54 short-term uses, 49, 50 significant issues, iv, 1, 9, 12, 23, 51 Southern Utah Wilderness Alliance, 40 special areas, 6, 47, 50 species diversity, 9, 35, 52, 53, 55, 56 species-of-concern, 52, 53, 54 species-of-interest, 52 standards, iii, v, 6, 7, 10, 17, 18, 25, 36, 40, 41, 44, 45, 46, 50, 60, 62, 63, 64, 65, 70 suitability, 6, 19, 24, 28, 44, 46, 51, 54, 55, 70 Supreme Court, 40 sustainability, ii, iv, 3, 5, 6, 12, 13, 22, 28, 29, 33, 35, 48, 56, 69 sustainable, iv, 7, 12, 33, 48, 49, 50 Sustaining the People's Lands, 2

Т

tiering, 67 timber harvest, v, 17, 18, 19, 20, 52, 59, 60, 61 timber management requirements, iii, v, 17, 24 transition, v, 4, 13, 15, 16, 17, 20, 28, 69

U

unavoidable adverse effects, v, 50

٧

viability, 5, 6, 24, 28, 29, 35, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56 viable, iii, 9, 15, 24, 28, 35, 52, 53, 55

W

Water Quality Act, 71 Wilderness Act, 71 Wilderness Society, 23

Z

zoological areas, 47